



A.

MICROCO Y RESOLUTION TEST CHART NATIONAL BUREAU OF STANDARDS-1963-A

:





	·····
REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE	READ INSTRUCTIONS BEFORE COMPLETING FORM
REPORT NUMBER 2. GOVT ACCESSION N Iscellaneous Paper E-82-6 $\Delta n = -212.34$	D. 3. RECIPIENT'S CATALOG NUMBER
TITLE (and Subtitie)	5. TYPE OF REPORT & PERIOD COVERED
MICROBIOLOGICAL WATER QUALITY OF IMPOUNDMENTS:	Final report
A LITERATURE REVIEW	6. PERFORMING ORG. REPORT NUMBER
AUTHOR(a)	6. CONTRACT OR GRANT NUMBER(*)
G. Allen Burton, Jr.	Purchase Order No. DACW39-82-M-2075
PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME AND ADDRESS	10. PROGRAM ELEMENT, PROJECT, TASK
Environmental Science Program University of Texas at Dallas Richardson, Tex. 75080	EWQOS Work Unit IIF
A. CONTROLLING OFFICE NAME AND ADDRESS	12. REPORT DATE
Office, Chief of Engineers, U. S. Army	13. NUMBER OF PAGES
	53
4. MONITORING AGENCY NAME & ADDRESS(If different from Controlling Office)	15. SECURITY CLASS. (of this report)
U. S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station Environmental Laboratory	Unclassified
Env nonmenteur Eubor a corg	
P. O. Box 631, Vicksburg, Miss. 39180 DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the Report) Approved for public release; distribution unlimit V. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the abetract entered in Block 20, 11 different i	15e. DECLASSIFICATION/DOWNGRADING SCHEDULE ed.
P. O. BOX 631, Vicksburg, Miss. 39180 5. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of this Report) Approved for public release; distribution unlimit. 7. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the abstract entered in Block 20, 11 different i	15e. DECLASSIFICATION/DOWNGRADING SCHEDULE
P. O. BOX 631, Vicksburg, Miss. 39180 5. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of this Report) Approved for public release; distribution unlimit 7. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the abstract entered in Block 20, If different in 8. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES	15e. DECLASSIFICATION/DOWNGRADING SCHEDULE
P. O. Box 631, Vicksburg, Miss. 39180 B. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the Report) Approved for public release; distribution unlimit 7. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the abstract entered in Block 20, If different i B. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES Available from National Technical Information Ser Springfield, Va. 22151.	15e. DECLASSIFICATION/DOWNGRADING SCHEDULE ed. mom Report) vice, 5285 Port Royal Road,
P. O. Box 631, Vicksburg, Miss. 39180 5. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of this Report) Approved for public release; distribution unlimit 7. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract entered in Block 20, if different i 8. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES Available from National Technical Information Ser Springfield, Va. 22151. 5. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse elde if necessary and identify by block number	<pre> 15e. DECLASSIFICATION/DOWNGRADING SCHEDULE ed. rom Report) vice, 5285 Port Royal Road, v)</pre>
 P. O. Box 631, Vicksburg, Miss. 39180 B. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of this Report) Approved for public release; distribution unlimit. 7. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the abstract entered in Block 20, 11 different in Bloc	<pre> 15. DECLASSIFICATION/DOWNGRADING SCHEDULE ed. room Report) vice, 5285 Port Royal Road, ro) </pre>
P. O. Box 631, Vicksburg, Miss. 39180 DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the Report) Approved for public release; distribution unlimit D. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract entered in Block 20, 11 different in B. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES Available from National Technical Information Ser Springfield, Va. 22151. D. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse eide 11 necessary and identify by block number Bacteria Water quality Impoundments Water sampling Microbiology	<pre> 15. DECLASSIFICATION/DOWNGRADING SCHEDULE ed. iven Report) vice, 5285 Port Royal Road, v) </pre>
P. O. Box 631, Vicksburg, Miss. 39180 DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of this Report) Approved for public release; distribution unlimit. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the abstract entered in Block 20, If different is SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES Available from National Technical Information Ser Springfield, Va. 22151. EXEY WORDS (Continue on reverse eide If necessary and identify by block number Bacteria Water quality Impoundments Water sampling Microbiology A ABSTRACT (Continue on reverse eide N necessary and identify by block number Assessing the microbiological water quality potential for waterborne disease outbreaks is a d traditional sampling programs. Problems associat bacteria as indicators of human pathogen presence future water quality in preimpoundment areas	<pre> 15.a. DECLASSIFICATION/DOWNGRADING SCHEDULE ed. room Report) vice, 5285 Port Royal Road, v) of impoundments and the ifficult task when using ed with using fecal coliform complicates assessments of </pre>
P. O. Box 631, Vicksburg, Miss. 39180 DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the Report) Approved for public release; distribution unlimit. 7. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract entered in Block 20, 11 different i 8. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES Available from National Technical Information Ser Springfield, Va. 22151. b. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse olds 11 necessary and identify by block number Bacteria Water quality Impoundments Water sampling Microbiology b. AUSTRACT (Continue on reverse olds N necessary and identify by block number Assessing the microbiological water quality potential for waterborne disease outbreaks is a d traditional sampling programs. Problems associat bacteria as indicators of human pathogen presence future water quality in preimpoundment areas	<pre>15.e. DECLASSIFICATION/DOWNGRADING SCHEDULE ed. vice, 5285 Port Royal Road, v) of impoundments and the ifficult task when using ed with using fecal coliform complicates assessments of</pre>

• ••• •**×●**=3==34

:

•

•

.

.

· · · ·

Unclassified

SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE(When Data Entered)

20. ABSTRACT (CONCLUDED)

Reliable determination of future and present microbiological water quality requires knowledge of how the chemical, physical, and biological characteristics of the watershed and impoundment interrelate to influence microbial indicator and pathogen densities. Accurate estimates of microbial indicator and pathogen densities, obtainable by using the enumeration methods and their modifications suggested in this report, will allow monitoring of the proper indicator organisms and estimation of potential sites of pathogen occurrence, density, and survival. Sampling programs must be geared toward critical time periods and areas; i.e., summer months, storm flows, feeder streams, agricultural and urban runoff, and swimming areas, including water and sediments. Frequency of sampling should be dictated by variability of water conditions, confidence level of data, and extent of human contact.

Choice of proper indicator organisms and enumeration methods and appropriate sampling strategies will allow sound preimpoundment assessment and reservoir management to greatly reduce the risk of waterborne disease outbreaks.

Unclassified SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE (When Data Entered)

PREFACE

This report was prepared by G. Allen Burton, Jr., Environmental Science Program, University of Texas at Dallas, Richardson, Texas, for the U. S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station (WES) under Purchase Order No. DACW-39-82-M-2075 dated 30 March 1982. This study forms part of the Environmental and Water Quality Operational Studies (EWQOS) Program, Work Unit IIF, Reservoir Site Preparation. The EWQOS Program is sponsored by the Office, Chief of Engineers, and is assigned to the WES under the purview of the Environmental Laboratory (EL).

The study was conducted under the direct WES supervision of Dr. Douglas Gunnison, and the general supervision of Mr. Donald R. Robey, Chief, Ecosystem Research and Simulation Division, EL, and Dr. John Harrison, Chief, EL. Dr. Jerome L. Mahloch was the EWQOS Program Manager.

The Commander and Directors of WES during the preparation of this report were COL Nelson P. Conover, CE, and COL Tilford C. Creel, CE. Technical Director was Mr. Fred R. Brown.

This report should be cited as follows:

Burton, G. A. Jr. 1982. "Microbiological Water Quality of Impoundments: A Literature Review," Miscellaneous Paper E-82-6, prepared by the Environmental Science Program, University of Texas at Dallas for the U. S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, CE, Vicksburg, Miss.



CONTENTS

		Page
PREFACE	• •	. 1
LIST OF TABLES	••	. 3
PART I: INTRODUCTION	• •	. 4
PART II: FECAL COLIFORMS VERSUS OTHER PATHOGEN INDICATORS	• •	. 8
Fecal Coliforms: Advantages and Disadvantages Other Indicator Organisms	•••	. 8 . 16
PART III: STANDARD AND RECOMMENDED METHODS FOR ENUMERATING INDICATO	RS	. 21
Standard Methods	•••	. 21 . 25
PART IV: DETERMINATION AND DETECTION OF CONTAMINATION	•••	. 28
Exposure<	•••	. 28 . 30 . 33
PART V: CONCLUSIONS AND GENERAL RECOMMENDATIONS	••	. 36
LITERATURE CITED		. 39

LIST OF TABLES

<u>No</u> .	Page
1	Waterborne Illness in the United States 5
2	Agents of Waterborne Disease 6
3	Estimated Percentages of Microbial Flora in Human Feces 9
4	Percentages of Warmblooded North American Animals Excreting Pathogens
5	Suggested Indicator and Pathogen Enumeration Methods 27

MICROBIOLOGICAL WATER QUALITY OF IMPOUNDMENTS: A LITERATURE REVIEW

PART I: INTRODUCTION

1. The United States has a large number of impoundments which provide flood control and serve as water supplies and recreational sites for millions of individuals. Each of these impoundments possesses unique and complex hydrologic and water quality characteristics. Impoundments are subject to contamination from multiple sources including: industrial and municipal discharges; agricultural, rural, and urban runoff; septic tanks; recreational user discharges; and natural processes. These sources introduce chemicals, fertilizers, and fecal wastes which add microorganisms and alter the physicochemistry of impoundments, thereby altering the natural microbial makeup of aquatic systems.

2. Many microorganisms found in runoff, discharges, and impoundments are pathogenic to humans, fish, and wildlife. During the period from 1971 to 1978, 224 waterborne disease outbreaks were reported in the United States, resulting in two deaths and 48,193 illnesses. Of the illnesses reported, 11,435 occurred in 1978 (Craun 1980 and Haley et al. 1980). In most of the outbreaks the waters were contaminated with chemicals or pathogenic microorganisms, with drinking water being epidemiologically implicated as the source of illness. Table 1 lists the etiologic agents identified in outbreaks from 1946 through 1978. All reported waterborne illnesses are not linked to ingestion of contaminated water, and many cases are not reported at all; thus the true number of illnesses due to waterborne pathogens is probably underestimated. Most reported outbreaks occurred during the summer months (Craun 1978).

3. A summary of waterborne infectious diseases which may occur in North American impoundments is given in Table 2. The list includes agents which produce disease from water contact activities (e.g., swimming, boating, fishing) as well as drinking water; it serves as a general guide to potential waterborne disease transmission in reservoirs.

4. The constant potential for outbreaks of waterborne disease from

TABLE 1

Waterborne Illness in the United States

(from Haley et al. 1980, Craun 1978, Center for Disease Control 1977, 1980, Pipes 1978, Craun and McCabe 1973)

	1946-	1970	-1791	1975		976	191	-	61	78*
	Ou tbreak	s Cases	Outbreak	s Cases	Outbreal	ks Cases	Outbreaks	Cases	Outbreak	s Cases
Gastroenteritis**	178	45,255	63	17,752	25	1,469	19	+	16	2.014
Salmonella typhi	53	610	4	222	0	0	0	0		0
Other Salmonella	13	16,730	2	37	-	750	5	• •	. ~	89
Infectious Hepatitis-A	53	1,833	14	368	0		0	C		; -
<u>Shigella</u>	33	7,400	14	2,800	2	2,175		• •	9 4	178
Entamoeba hystolytica	5	75	·	•	1		•	ı) I
Enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli	4	188	-	1,000	0	0	C	C	-	· (
Giardia lamblia	m	176	13	5,136	Υ Μ	639	৯ ব		- 7	5 171
Leptospira	-	6	ı	1	•		• 1	I	• 1	
Tularemia	2	Q	,	1	ı	ı	,	1		, ,
Naegleria fowleri	ſ	ı	ı	t	ı	ſ	ı	•		· ~
Pseudomonas aeruginosa	•	ı	ł	ı	1	ı	ı	1	ått	256
Schistosome	ı	•	ı	ı	1	1	1	1	-	30
Poliovirus	-	16	ı	ı	1	ı	ı	. 1	- 1	2
Campylobacter fetus	0	0	0	. 0	0	0	C			3 000 F
Parvovirus-like agents	ı	ı	ı	I	1	ſ		•	- ~	250
Chemical poisoning	12	60	12	115	ĸ	35	9	- ,	~ ~	46
* In 1978, 55% of the outbreaks v	were of un	known eti	ology, 11	% were ca	used by 0	iardia.	10% by chem	icals.	3% bv Shia	ella.

8% by virus, and 5% by <u>Salmonella</u>.

** Agent unknown.

. .

†Figures unavailable.

 H^{Two} outbreaks similar to <u>P</u>. <u>aeruginosa</u>, but not identified.

3

: . .

TABLE	Ξ2
-------	----

<u>Agents</u>	of W	lateri	orne	Disease
(<u>f</u>	rom	Pipe	s 1978	3)

Disease	Agent			
Bacterial				
Shigellosis	Shigella spp.			
Diarrhea	Enterotoxigenic E. coli			
	<u>Campylobacter fetus spp. jejuni</u>			
Salmonelliosis	Salmonella spp.			
Yersiniosis	<u>Yersinia enterocolitica</u>			
Leptospirosis	<u>Leptospira</u> spp.			
Typhoid fever	<u>S</u> . <u>typhi</u>			
Tularemia	Francisella tularensis			
Melioldosis	Pseudomonas pseudomallel			
Utitis externa Ductular domentitic	P. <u>aeruginosa</u>			
Pustular dermatitis	P. deruginosa			
Wound infections	Aeromonas hydrophila			
Legionelliosis*	Legionella preumonhila			
Legionerriosis	Legionerra pricamopriria			
Viral				
Gastroentcritis	Parvovirus-like agents (e.g. Norwalk)			
	Enteroviruses (e.g. Coxsackie A and B,			
	Polio, Echo)			
	Unknown			
Hepatitis	Hepatitis A			
Poliomyletis	Poliovirus			
Parasitic				
Amebic dysentery	Entamoeba hystolytica			
Giardiasis	<u>Giardia lamblia</u>			
Primary Amebic Meningoencephalitis	<u>Naegleria fowleri & Acanthamoeba</u>			
Ascariosis	Ascaris lumbricoides			
Trichuriosis	<u>Trichuris</u> trichura			
Balantidial dysentery	<u>Balantidium coli</u>			
Coccidiosis	<u>Isopora</u> spp.			
Swimmer's itch	Schistosomes			

*no reported cases of waterborne infection.

water supplies makes routine monitoring for contamination necessary. However, attempting to assess the occurrence of microbial pathogens in aquatic systems is very difficult due to a multitude of factors. Because low levels of pathogens may be present, it is necessary to monitor water supplies using "indicator" organisms. Indicator organisms are easier to identify than pathogens because they occur in higher numbers. The basic assumption of this approach is that the presence of indicator organisms is associated with the presence of pathogens. Criteria (McFeters et al. 1978) for an ideal indicator are as follows:

- <u>a.</u> An indicator should be applicable to all types of waters subject to investigation.
- <u>b.</u> Microorganisms used as indicators should be present in greater numbers than the pathogen in all cases where the latter is found.
- c. Numbers of any indicator microorganism should not increase significantly in the absence of a health hazard.
- <u>d.</u> Indicator microorganisms should be more resistant to the physiological stress within aquatic environments, hence exhibit greater survival, than pathogens.
- <u>e.</u> Indicator reaction or test data should be unique and characteristic of that microorganism or determination.
- <u>f.</u> Indicator methodology should be of minimal complexity, rapid, and inexpensive.
- g. Indicator microorganisms should be harmless to man under usual conditions.
- <u>h.</u> The indicator or test should be proportional to the health hazard that is present.

5. The traditional indicator group for microbial pathogens has been the coliform bacteria. As a result of the incorporation of coliform standards into Federal criteria and state water quality standards, continued use of coliform tests is required, despite the numerous shortcomings of these tests as indicators of microbial pathogens.

6. Not only are coliform bacteria inadequate as indicators, there are problems monitoring their presence in aquatic systems. Isolated "grab" samples from impoundments frequently result in data on coliform numbers which are essentially meaningless. In recent years many of the problems and shortcomings associated with using coliform bacteria as indicators for microbial pathogens in aquatic systems have been identified and alternatives suggested. These problems, alternate indicators, and appropriate sampling methods for impoundments will be discussed in the following sections.

PART II: FECAL COLIFORMS VERSUS OTHER PATHOGEN INDICATORS

Fecal Coliforms: Advantages and Disadvantages

7. As a result of the widespread presence of "total coliform" bacteria in nature, the use of the coliform group as an indicator is generally discouraged, except in finished drinking water Presence of coliform bacteria in drinking water has greater meaning since it indicates inadequate treatment. Fecal coliforms are those bacteria which are gram negative, asporogenous rods and produce gas from lactose at an incubation temperature of 44.5°C (Dufour 1978). The presence of fecal coliforms in water suggests either animal or human wastes have contaminated the system and their associated pathogens may also be present (McKee and Wolf 1963, Moore 1959). Estimates of the percentages of microbial flora in human feces are listed in Table 3 and the percentages of warmblooded animals excreting enteric pathogens in Table 4.

8. Development of indicator standards, prediction of risk of waterborne disease, and assessment of pathogen levels requires knowledge of an indicator-pathogen relationship. For a given concentration of indicator organisms, there should be a related concentration of pathogens under a known set of conditions. This hypothesis is based on the assumption that there are relatively constant levels of pathogens present in sewage which usually seems to be the case in large municipal sewage systems; but as the number of individuals who contribute to fecal wastes becomes smaller, the indicatorto-pathogen ratio variance increases. So a waste discharge into a lake from a healthy recreational user may be completely free of pathogens, or it may contain a high density of virulent pathogens if the user is infected (Cabelli 1979). Nearly 40 years ago it was suggested that a ratio of 3 to 120 of Salmonella typhi per million coliforms existed for a typhoid rate of 0.01/1000 to 30/1000 population per year (Kehr & Butterfield 1943). If one assumes one person per 100,000 individuals excretes Salmonella typhi, there would be roughly one pathogen per litre of sewage (Pipes 1978). Correlation between fecal coliform (FC) densities and the presence of Salmonella in recreational waters has been reported (Geldreich 1970, Bonde 1977, Smith et al. 1973, Smith and Twedt 1971, Dutka 1973). Geldreich (1970) reported isolating Salmonella in approximately 30% of samples with less than 200 FC/100 mL but in more than 98% when the density was greater

Agent	Occurrence (% individuals)	<u>Log₁₀Density/gram</u> *
Streptococcus faecalis	26	4-5
Enterococcus	74-76	5-6
Fecal Streptococcus	100	5-6
Mycobacterium	43	0-2
Total coliforms	87-100	7-9
<u>E. coli</u>	87-100	7-9
Intermediate coliform types	0-72	<1-6
Enterobacter/Klebsiella	0-98	<1-9
<u>K. pneumoniae</u>	26-30	6-8
Fecal coliforms	96-100	7-9
<u>Pseudomonas aeruginosa</u>	3-15	3-5
Aeromonas hydrophila	0.2-0.7	_**
<u>Clostridium perfringens</u>	13-35	6-7
<u>C. tetani</u>	1-35	-
Coliphage	-	<1 +
Poliovirus	0-70	0-7 (PFU) ^T
Coxsackie virus	0-88	-
Echovirus	0-43	0-8 (PFU)
Adenovirus	0-77	-
<u>Candida</u> <u>albicans</u>	-	< 0−4
<u>Giardia lamblia</u>	3-15	-
<u>Entamoeba coli</u>	3-32	-
Endolimax nana	9-16	-
Dientamoeba fragilis	0.2-6	-
Iodamoeba butschlii	1.4-5	•
Trichomonas hominis	0.3-4	-
<u>Chilomastix</u> <u>mesnili</u>	0.4-6	-
Enteromonas hominis	0.1-3	-
Retortomonas intestinalis	0.1-1.3	-

		•	TABL	E 3					
Estimated	Percentages	of	Mic	robial	<u> Fl</u>	ora	in	Human	Feces
(<u>fr</u>	om Geldreich	et	al.	<u>1978</u>	and	Cat	pel]	li 1979))

*The number of organisms, in logarithms, per gram of feces.
**Data unavailable.
†Plaque-Forming Units.

(

.

Pathogen	Animal	% Excreters in N. America
<u>Salmonella</u>	Human	1.0
	Cattle	13.0
	Sheep	3.7
<u>Shigella</u>	Human	.46
Enterotoxigenic <u>E</u> . <u>coli</u>	Human	1.2-15.5
	Pig	9
Enterovirus	Human	0-88
<u>Giardia lamblia</u>	Human	1.5-20
Leptospira	Human	< 1-3
	Cattle	2.3
	Mice	33.0
	Dogs	26.6
<u>Entamoeba histolytica</u>	Human	10

C

			T/	ABLE 4			
Percentages	of	Warmblooded	North	American	Animals	Excreting	Pathogens
		(from (Geldre	ich et al.	<u>. 1978</u>)		

than 2000 FC/100 mL. Bonde (1977) reported Salmonella usually occurred at concentrations of E. coli greater than 1000/100 mL. Many times, however, when the actual density of <u>Salmonella</u> is examined, no correlation exists (Cabelli 1976). Several studies have discounted the coliform-pathogen relationship (Smith et al. 1973, Smith and Twedt 1971, Dutka 1973, Gallagher and Spino 1968). Enteric pathogens have been found when low levels of indicator bacteria were present (Dutka 1973, Muller 1964, Colberg et al. 1974, Kraus 1977). Moreover, no studies have shown FC to indicate the presence of fecal pathogens such as Yersinia enterocolitica and Campylobacter fetus spp. jejuni. Y. enterocolitica and other species have been implicated in waterborne disease from waters which have been found to be relatively free from FC (Schieman 1978, Ghirelli and Marker 1977). Small mammals, snails, poultry, and migratory waterfowl have been shown to be reservoirs of Yersinia and Campylobacter and are partially responsible for contaminating water (Botzler et al. 1976, Hacking and Sileo 1974, Kapperud 1975, Luechtefeld et al. 1980, Center for Disease Control 1979a).

9. Fecal coliforms do not serve as indicators of bacterial pathogens which are ubiquitous in aquatic environments. <u>Pseudomonas aeruginosa</u>, <u>Aeromonas hydrophila</u>, and <u>Klebsiella</u> spp. are naturally occurring aquatic bacteria which have been implicated in disease. These organisms usually do not pose a health threat unless present in high numbers, yet they are frequently present in conjunction with fecal pollution (Cabelli 1980b). <u>Protozoa and Viruses</u>

10. Fecal coliform indicator validity is especially tenuous in predicting health hazards resulting from presence of pathogenic protozoa and viruses. Recent studies have demonstrated the existence of enteric viruses in waters containing low levels of fecal coliforms (Gerba 1980). No normal viral flora exists in humans, and any relationship between indicators and virus density is hampered by the following: (a) only a small percentage of the population may harbor and excrete enteric viruses, (b) intestinal infection and excretion of viruses is transient, (c) most cases are subclinical, (d) excretion of viruses is subject to seasonal variation, (e) no methods are available for the in vitro cultivation and quantitation of many viral pathogens, and (f) techniques for isolation and quantitation of the hundreds of viruses are primitive with poor recovery rates (Pipes 1978). Virus-to-coliform ratios have been established in one study (U.S.

Environmental Protection Agency 1975) as follows: feces 1:65,000 polluted water 1:50,000

sewage 1:92,000

Bonde (1977) reported higher ratios of <u>E</u>. <u>coli</u>:virus when <u>E</u>. <u>coli</u> densities were greater than 1000 organisms per 100 mL. Large variations in the numbers of coliphage in sewage and in the coliphage:coliform bacteria ratio have been reported (Pretorius 1962). These ratios obviously change with environments and time; furthermore, improved isolation techniques for viruses in recent years have raised doubt about previously reported ratios (Mechalas et al. 1972). Several studies have demonstrated that no consistent virus: coliform ratio exists (Gerba 1980, Goyal et al. 1977, 1979, Berg 1976a, Duma 1980); for example enteroviruses were detected 44% of the time in recreational waters considered acceptable as judged by FC criteria (Gerba 1980).

11. In the South, <u>Naegleria</u> and <u>Acanthamoeba</u> have been found to be ubiquitous in aquatic systems. Relatively high densities have been reported in warm water such as thermal discharges from power plants and hot springs (Duma 1980, Stevens et al. 1977, Wellings 1977, O'Dell 1979). These pathogens have not been associated with fecal pollution; therefore, use of the FC as an indicator of their presence is inaccurate.

12. Another protozoal pathogen, <u>Giardia lamblia</u>, has been reported with increasing frequency as an etiologic agent in waterborne disease (Jakubowski and Hoff 1979). It is found in waters which are relatively free of FC (Craun 1979); moreover, its ability to encyst allows extended survival, thus preventing the use of FC as an indicator (Craun and McCabe 1973, Craun 1976, Rendtorff and Holt 1954, Rendtorff 1954). Presence of Sediments

13. The relationship of FC densities in the water column to pathogen densities in the sediments is also unclear. Sediment has been shown to harbor much higher numbers of bacteria, viruses, and protozoa, both pathogenic and nonpathogenic (Goyal et al. 1977, Grimes 1975 & 1980, Hendricks 1971, LaBelle et al. 1980, Rittenberg et al. 1958, Van Donsel & Geldreich 1971, Gerba & Goyal 1978, Smith et al. 1978, U.S. Public Health Service 1965, Goyal et al. 1978, Metcalf & Stiles 1968, Slanetz et al. 1965, DeFlora et al. 1975, Matson et al. 1978, LaBelle & Gerba 1979, Farmer 1980, Gerba et al. 1977, Winslow 1976). When large numbers of enteric organisms are present in the sediment,

a relationship exists between their numbers and the degree of contamination of the overlying water (Allen et al. 1953). Nearshore sediments at reservoir swimming areas have shown FC concentrations as high as 48,000/100 cc (Winslow 1976). Van Donsel and Geldreich (1971) reported that a minimum of 150 FC/100 mL in the water was required for Salmonella to be present in the sediment. In their studies, they sampled various streams and lakes and found 100-to 1000-fold more FC in the sediments than in overlying waters. They recovered Salmonella spp. from 46% of their sediment samples, whereas only 8% of the overlying waters contained this pathogen (Van Donsel and Geldreich 1971). Similar ratios of FC in sediment and water were found in the Mississippi River (Grimes 1980). Goyal et al. (1977) reported 47% of the sediment samples compared to 3% of the overlying water samples to be positive for Salmonella spp. Hendricks (1971) recovered 90% more Salmonella spp. from sediments, than from overlying waters. As a consequence of the great variability of sediments, it usually is not possible to establish a correlation between FC levels in the sediment and overlying waters (Winslow 1976).

14. There is no doubt that the present indicator system works to some degree. Fecal coliforms do indicate fecal pollution, and the present acceptable levels are so low that infection by fecal bacterial pathogens is unlikely. However, there are still insufficient data to support a direct, consistent relationship between indicator bacteria, pathogen concentration, and infection. It may be concluded that as indicator density increases there is a deterioration of water quality, but not necessarily an increase in health hazards (Pipes 1978).

Die-Off Rates

15. Because of the tenuous relationship between indicator organisms and pathogens, it may be feasible to develop an indicator index based on survival as a function of exposure time in water. Such an index could relate a numerical survival ratio for a pathogen to an indicator survival value once pathogen survival data for different aquatic environments were known. If infective dose levels were known for each pathogen, then quantitative risk could be assigned to recreational activities. At the present, the data for such a system are inadequate (Mechalas et al. 1972, Andre et al. 1967, Geldreich et al. 1968, Klock 1971, Gordon 1972, Moore 1971, Rudolphs et al. 1950, Gyllenberg et al. 1960).

16. Numerous studies have measured the survival rates of fecal coliform and pathogenic bacteria in water (Carter et al. 1967). Enteric organisms are physiologically adapted to the nutrient-rich environment of warmblooded animal intestines. When placed in dilute, nutrient-poor, aquatic systems they become stressed and die (Bissonnette 1975). Factors affecting their rates of survival are many; with sunlight, nutrient availability, pH, and temperature, presence of protozoa, phage, and toxins, and other physicochemical factors predominating (Faust et al. 1975, Gameson and Saxon 1967, Van Donsel et al. 1967, Mitchell 1967). Since such a multitude of environmental variables influences survival, die-off varies as much between aquatic systems as do the variables. In general enteric bacteria die in fresh water within three days (Rudolphs 1950). Attempts at determining whether certain types of bacteria such as F. coli survive as long as pathogens such as Salmonella have produced conflicting results. The majority of studies have shown E. coli to be a good indicator because it survives as long or longer than Salmonella spp. (Geldreich 1970, Geldreich et al. 1968, Rudolphs et al. 1950, Mitchell and Starzyk 1975, Orlob 1956), while others have reported the opposite (Gudding and Krogstad 1975, McFeters et al. 1974, Vasconcelos and Swartz 1976). The inconsistency of these findings can be attributed to varied strain characteristics and different methodologies and, more importantly, to unknown environmental variables. One study (McFeters et al. 1974) comparing die-offs of fecal indicator bacteria and enteric pathogens reported that 50% reductions in initial population required an average of 17 hours for coliforms and from 2.4 to 19.2 hours for Salmonella spp. These survival rates are somewhat lower than die-off in marine waters (Chamberlin and Mitchell 1978). Chamberlin and Mitchell (1978) compared numerous freshwater and seawater investigations of coliform survival and calculated average dieoff rates, assuming that first order decay followed the relationship known as Chick's law; i.e., dB/dt = -KB, where B is the bacterial density at time t, K is the die-off rate, and d is the difference from beginning to end. In fresh water, rates of decrease averaged 0.015 to 0.02/hr, while a rate of 1/hr was found in seawater. Their studies indicated sunlight was the most important factor contributing to die-off. Thornton et al. (1970) measured coliform densities associated with turbidity when storm flows were tracked into a reservoir. The authors attributed die-off to be most closely associated with water temperature. The

model developed predicted relatively well disappearance of coliforms associated with storm flow.

17. Die-off of other pathogens varies considerably from the FC survival. Survival of FC may not be representative of other pathogens because FC and Salmonella have the most rapid die-off of all microorganisms of health significance tested (McFeters and Stuart 1972). Y. enterocolitica, a pathogenic bacterium, survives for long periods in cold waters which are low in nutrients (Shillinger and McFeters 1978). High densities of heterotrophic and coliform bacteria are inhibitory to Yersinia spp. survival, as they are also to survival of Shigella, Leptospira, and enteric viruses (Schieman 1978, Highsmith et al. 1977, Geldreich 1972). <u>Aeromonas</u> <u>hydrophila</u>, <u>P. aeruginosa</u>, <u>L</u>. pneumophila, and N. fowleri are not only pathogens, but are also naturally occurring aquatic organisms with indefinite survival. Giardia, parasitic ova, and enteric viruses survive adverse conditions such as water treatment much better than the coliform indicators (Craun and McCabe 1973, Craun 1976, Rendtorff and Holt 1954, Rendtorff 1954, Berg 1973, Malina 1976, Lin et al. 1971, Mack et al. 1972, Petrilli et al. 1974, Nestor and Coston 1976, Berg 1973). This characteristic of greater persistence and the fact that, in contrast to bacterial pathogens, very low numbers of organisms may cause infection when ingested makes the occurrence of these organisms critical (Pipes 1978, Mechalas et al. 1972, Rendtorff 1979, Center for Disease Control 1979b, Melnick 1976). Viruses may persist for several weeks to months in coldwater environments (Hill et al. 1971, Katzenelson 1978). One study showed survival of viruses was closely related to temperature: fewer than 5 days at 37° C, 2.5 to 9 days at 22-25°C, and 40 to 90 days at 3-5°C (Bitton 1978). These survival periods are much longer than the periods for coliform indicators. Kott (1981) reported that enteroviruses survive twice as long as FC in secondary wastewater; however, E. coli B die-off was similar to that of the viruses. Viruses, like bacteria, vary in their ability to survive in waters, therefore adding another complicating factor in determining water quality (Colwell and Foster 1980, Metcalf 1971).

18. Sediments greatly extend the survival of most microbial organisms of health significance, as indicated by the much higher organism numbers reported (Winslow 1976, Horak 1974). Studies of survival in sediments are few (Van Donsel and Geldreich 1971, Gerba and McLeod 1976, LaBelle and Gerba 1982, LaLiberte and Grimes 1982, Schaub et al. 1974, Roper and Marshall

1978). Van Donsel and Geldreich (1971) reported a 90% die-off in seven days of both FC and <u>Salmonella</u> spp. in various sediments. Studies by the authors comparing survival of <u>S</u>. <u>newport</u>, <u>E</u>. <u>coli</u>, <u>P</u>. <u>aeruginosa</u>, and <u>K</u>. <u>pneumoniae</u> in five different sediments showed <u>E</u>. <u>coli</u> and <u>Salmonella</u> to have comparable die-off rates of 2 to 5 logarithms in 2 weeks, whereas <u>P</u>. <u>aeruginosa</u> and <u>K</u>. <u>pneumoniae</u> decreased only 1 to 2 orders of magnitude. At initial concentrations of 10^8 colony-forming units per milliliter (CFU/mL) such as are found in sewage, these pathogens could survive in the sediments for months. This increased survival partially accounts for the high numbers of indicators and pathogens in sediments.

Other Indicator Organisms

19. Several other bacteria have been proposed as indicator organisms for microbial pathogens. These include <u>E</u>. <u>coli</u>, fecal streptococci, enterococci, total bacteria, <u>C</u>. <u>perfringens</u>, <u>K</u>. <u>pneumoniae</u>, <u>Aeromonas</u>, and <u>Pseudomonas</u> (McFeters et al. 1978, Cabelli 1979).

20. <u>E</u>. <u>coli</u> has been used in many European countries as the primary fecal indicator organism. It has the advantage of being specific for warmblooded animals and is not found in nature as are some fecal coliforms such as <u>Klebsiella</u>, <u>Enterobacter</u>, and <u>Citrobacter</u>. For this reason it serves as a better indicator of recent fecal pollution. In a 3-year epidemiological study, the occurrence of <u>E</u>. <u>coli</u> was shown to correlate better to incidences of waterborne illness than FC, fecal streptococci, total coliforms, <u>Aeromonas</u>, <u>P</u>. <u>aeruginosa</u>, <u>Klebsiella</u>, and <u>Enterobacter-Arthrobacter</u> (Geldreich et al. 1978, Ktsanes et al. 1981, Cabelli et al. 1976).

21. There was originally no scientific justification for using fecal coliforms rather than <u>E</u>. <u>coli</u> as indicators other than that facile (easily accomplished) methods for enumerating <u>E</u>. <u>coli</u> were not available. However, now accurate, facile methods do exist which are specific for <u>E</u>. <u>coli</u> (Cabelli 1979, Dufour et al. 1981).

22. Another widely used indicator has been the fecal streptococci (FS). This includes <u>S</u>. <u>faecalis</u>, <u>S</u>. <u>faecium</u>, <u>S</u>. <u>bovis</u>, <u>S</u>. <u>equinus</u>, and <u>S</u>. <u>avium</u> (Bordner and Winter 1978). However, some species of <u>Streptococcus</u> are capable of reproducing outside of warmblooded animals and are widespread in nature (Mundt 1962a, 1962b), which violates one essential requirement of indicators. When FS information is combined with FC data to provide a

factor known as the FC/FS ratio, sources of contaminants are more clearly identified (Galvani 1974, Geldreich and Kenner 1969). FC/FS ratios of 4 or greater indicate human feces, whereas ratios of less than 0.7 are indicative of animal wastes (Geldreich and Kenner 1969, Geldreich et al. 1980). However, due to differing die-off rates, dilution, and the occurrence of background coliforms levels, these ratios are often useless in determining animal or human origin unless derived from the immediate source within a few hours of pollution (Cabelli 1980b, Geldreich and Kenner 1969). Some studies have shown FC to survive longer than FS, but most report longer survival of FS (Pipes 1978, McFeters et al. 1974, Geldreich et al. 1980). This would cause the FC/FS ratio to decrease with time, thus attributing the pollution to animals. Some lower animals have an intestinal flora with high FC/FS ratios similar to humans, which adds to the problems of using such a ratio (Wheater et al. 1979, Thomas and Levin 1978).

23. Enterococci are a subgroup of the FS and are more specific for human wastes (Bordner and Winter 1978). Enterococci have been observed to survive longer than fecal streptococci (McFeters et al. 1974, Geldreich et al. 1980). They have been reported to be an adequate indicator for organisms that have a longer survival, such as viruses. Studies by Cabelli (1979, 1980b) and Cabelli et al. (1974) of lake beaches have shown numbers of enterococci to correlate highly with waterborne illness and be better indicators than <u>E. coli</u>, FC, or others. Their use as an indicator does not account for possible input of pathogens from animals.

24. <u>Clostridium perfringens</u> has been proposed by some as an indicator organism (Bonde 1963). The occurrence has correlated well with other indicators. Due to its ability to form spores under stressful conditions, it is a good indicator when disinfectants (water treatment) are present and when water samples cannot be analyzed quickly. Its presence in water or sediments does not necessarily indicate recent pollution, due to this same spore-forming characteristic; however, information concerning the occurrence of past pollution is often desireable. On the other hand, for water quality maintenance and enforcement information, it is essential to know if pollution was recent. Two additional factors which limit the usefulness of this organism as an indicator are its requirement of anaerobic conditions for growth and its widespread occurrence in nature (McFeters et al. 1978, Bonde 1963).

25. In recent years, the use of <u>K</u>. <u>pneumoniae</u> as an indicator of sanitary 17

significance has frequently been challenged. Although it is associated with <u>E</u>. <u>coli</u> in fecal material and is an opportunistic pathogen, it has been isolated in many natural sources and is capable of proliferating in water (McFeters et al 1978, Menon and Bedford 1973, Seidler et al. 1975, Dufour and Cabelli 1976). Its presence as a constituent of the FC population contributes to the shortcomings of FC as an indicator (Cabelli 1980b). It is, however, a good indicator of organic pollution, being found in high numbers in textile, paper, and pulp mills, beet processing, and other wastes (Bordner and Winter 1978).

26. Two other bacteria have recently been proposed as indicators, Aeromonas and P. aeruginosa (McFeters et al. 1978). There has, however, been much controversy concerning their significance as indicator organisms (Colwell and Foster 1980). Both organisms are widespread in nature and are capable of reproducing in water, thus maintaining relatively stable populations (Carson et al. 1973, Fliermans et al. 1977, Nemedi and Layni 1971). A. hydrophila is often a good indicator of nutrient loading (including sewage), thus its densities are associated with water quality and serve as an index of the trophic state of a water body (Cabelli 1980b, Cabelli et al. 1974, Rippey and Cabelli 1980). Other studies have shown good correlations with conductivity, redox potentials, and temperature but question use of this organism as a trophic-level indicator (Colwell and Foster 1980). It has a seasonal distribution, being present in high numbers only during warmer months unless thermal discharges are present (Colwell and Foster 1980, Straskrabova 1974). As with many bacteria, densities in the sediment are elevated and remain relatively stable throughout the year. P. aeruginosa is also frequently present in high numbers in sewage (Wheater et al. 1979, Miescier 1977, Dutka 1979). Cabelli et al. (1976) suggest P. aeruginosato-FC ratios greater than 20 indicate the source is not of fecal origin.

27. The use of the yeast, <u>Candida albicans</u>, as an indicator has been gaining acceptance in recent years (Dutka 1979, Buck 1977). It is a known pathogen, and its occurrence is apparently directly related to man's activities. It can be isolated from the mouth, throat, skin, and feces of normal individuals; but it is not a good fecal indicator because only about 18% of the population has <u>C</u>. <u>albicans</u> present in their feces (Cabelli et al. 1976). Survival in fresh waters is relatively longer than most enteric bacteria, often lasting several weeks (Cabelli et al. 1976). Its presence in uncontaminated water is rare. Beaches with high FC counts produced samples containing <u>C</u>. <u>albicans</u> counts of 20-25/litre, while low FC areas had counts of 0-2/litre (Buck 1977).

28. Two absolute indicators of fecal pollution which have potential for use are numbers of bifidobacteria and the fecal sterol, coprostanol. Bifidobacteria are anaerobic organisms found only at high densities in feces of humans and higher animals and have survival characteristics similar to <u>E. coli</u>. Their use as water quality indicators has been suggested by a few authors, but further verification of enumeration procedures and natural sources is needed (Evison and James 1975, Levin 1977). Coprostanol is a fecal component that has several traits which make it an ideal chemical indicator of fecal pollution; however, it's identification requires complex laboratory methods which prevent its use at present (Colwell and Foster 1980, Smith and Gouron 1969, Dutka et al. 1974, Dutka and El-Shaarawi 1975, Murtaugh and Bunch 1967).

29. Perhaps the most important organisms of sanitary significance are the viruses, yet they are the most difficult to detect. No facile method has been developed for identifying virus indicators, and much disagreement and uncertainty exists regarding proper indicators for viruses of fecal origin (Carson et al. 1973). There is agreement, however, that a significant number of waterborne cases of gastroenteritis are probably caused by enteroviruses (Pipes 1978). Relatively involved isolation methods have implicated viruses directly and indirectly in waterborne outbreaks of illness (Pipes 1978). There has been much discussion on the use of coliphage as a virus indicator (Kott 1981, Colwell and Foster 1980, Leahy et al. 1980). It has been suggested by Kott et al. (1976) that the f2 coliphage was a good indicator for human enteroviruses and this was supported by studies on the frequency of these viruses in sewage treatment. There are several characteristics of coliphage which qualify its use as an indicator: (a) it is prevalent in sewage at ratios to enterovirusus of 10^3 :1, (b) it can be enumerated within 24 hrs , (c) it is more resistant to chlorine than the enteroviruses tested, (d) it survives as long or longer than enteroviruses in water, and (e) reliable isolation methods exist which are less expensive than most virus isolation methods (Colwell and Foster 1980). However, coliphage does have the following shortcomings as a fecal indicator:

(a) it is not present at consistent densities in fecal material, (b) it is not associated exclusively with fecal wastes of warmblooded animals, (c) its survival rates compared to many viruses of sanitary significance are not known, and (d) its survival rates vary (Cabelli 1980b, Cabelli et al. 1976).

PART III: STANDARD AND RECOMMENDED METHODS FOR ENUMERATING INDICATORS

30. Numerous methods and materials exist which allow easy enumeration of most microbial indicators and pathogenic organisms. Care must be taken, however, in choosing which methods and materials to use because recovery rates vary substantially depending on the methods and materials and may prevent comparison of data.

Standard Methods

31. The majority of marketed methods and materials dealing with indicators concern FC. Presently, there are two standard methods which predominate: the membrane filtration (MF) and the most-probable-number (MPN) methods (Bordner and Winter 1978).

Problems

32. There are, however, many problems associated with these methods for FC, and these must be recognized. Among the major problems are: (a) occurrence of false positive and false negative results, (b) varying rates of recovery among different brands and batches of membrane filters, (c) effects of turbidity on enumeration by MF, (d) varying recovery rates between MF and MPN, and (e) inability to recover stressed FC.

32. <u>False positives</u>. Some bacteria fit the definition of FC when, in fact, they are not of fecal origin. Some which have been reported to give these false positive results are <u>Aeromonas</u>, <u>Klebsiella</u>, <u>Enterobacter</u>, <u>Citrobacter</u>, and <u>Serratia</u> species. This problem is the result of both the crude definition of the FC and the inability of the popular FC isolation media to inhibit nonfecal bacteria. False positives have been noted frequently by investigators attempting to isolate FC from sewage wastewaters, soils, and groundwaters (Bordner and Winter 1978, Neilson 1978, Leahy et al. 1980, Hussong et al. 1981).

33. <u>False negatives</u>. False negatives are normally a greater problem in analyses and may be attributed to numerous factors. Many waters will contain such a high number of bacteria capable of growth on FC isolation media that they inhibit the growth of coliforms (Mundt 1962b). This is especially true in very turbid samples. Bacteria tend to adsorb to suspended particulate matter as a result of charge interactions (Weiss 1951). This causes three problems. First, noncoliform organisms will be associated with the suspended particulate matter in high numbers and through competition and antagonism will prevent growth of some of the coliforms (Geldreich et al. 1978, Herson 1980). Second, the turbid sample will tend to clog pores of membranes used in the MF procedure, preventing nutrients from the media from reaching the FC and allowing only small quantities of water to be filtered (Bordner and Winter 1978, Sladek et al. 1975). If samples are prefiltered to remove turbidity, significant numbers of FC may be lost (Geldreich et al. 1978). Finally, when counting plates from MF samples, one must assume each colony arose from one FC; however, in turbid samples several FC may adsorb to a particle and grow into one colony, resulting in an underestimation of the true FC density (Bordner and Winter 1978). Use of MPN instead of MF when turbidity is greater than 5 nephlometer turbidity units (NTU) is recommended (Geldreich et al. 1978, LeChevallier et al. 1981) but will not totally alleviate the problems. Since heavy growth of heterotrophic bacteria frequently accompanies turbidity, growth of FC may be suppressed (Center for Disease Control 1980, Geldreich et al. 1978, Herson 1980). The numerous problems associated with estimating FC densities in turbid samples with high noncoliform densities have been described in numerous studies (Bordner and Winter 1978, Herson 1980, LeChevallier 1981).

(

35. Another significant factor contributing to false negatives is the inability of standard methods to recover stressed or injured FC cells (Bissonnette et al. 1975, Bordner 1977). Since these organisms are physiologically adapted to the warm, nutrient-rich guts of animals, dilute aquatic environments cause FC to be stressed, injured, and eventually killed. Injured cells are of sanitary significance because, if they are ingested, the favorable environment will allow resuscitation and possible pathogenesis. Since standard FC isolation media contain ingredients which are inhibitory to many bacteria and incubation is at 44.5° C, stressed FC cells are frequently unable to grow. Incubation at this high temperature may grossly underestimate levels of E. coli (Dutka et al. 1979); many studies have shown high percentages of FC to be injured and not recoverable by standard methods (Bissonnette et al. 1975, Bordner et al. 1977, Stuart et al. 1977). Preliminary incubation at lower temperatures or in nutrient-rich media allows injured cells to recover and multiply with subsequent incubation in the routine manner. Unstressed freshly isolated FC grow very well at 44.5°C.

36. Effects of different filters and selective media. Another complicating problem is the variability associated with different lots and brands of membrane filters and selective media. A review of these problems was presented in the Environmental Protection Agency's Symposium on the Recovery of Indicator Organisms Employing Membrane Filters (See Bordner et al. 1977). There is a disagreement on whether some of these problems are significant, but the following points should be noted:

<u>a.</u> Dyes used in media to distinguish indicator organisms vary in their content from lot to lot. Some background bacteria which may be present can cause the dyes to fade.

<u>b.</u> Membrane filters vary in their ability to trap and allow subsequent growth of indicator organisms. Many studies have observed that on polycarbonate filters recovery of water quality indicator bacteria is less efficient than on other major brands.

<u>c.</u> Turbid samples clog membrane pores, preventing filtration of adequate quantities of water and preventing growth media from soaking through to achieve contact with the bacteria. Particles on the filter serve as sites of attachment for numerous bacteria which prevent estimation of true densities; these particles also allow background bacteria to overgrow indicator colonies with less intense color development.

<u>d.</u> Use of standard selective media, such as M-FC which contains inhibitory agents, in combination with a high temperature of incubation (44.5°C) will prevent growth of some sublethally stressed indicators. Prior incubation at lower temperatures and/or with nonselective nutrient-rich media produces higher rates of recovery, thus a better picture of the true bacterial density in the water system (Bordner et al. 1977).

Advantages of using the standard methods

37. Numerous studies (Evans et al. 1981, Tobin et al. 1981, Strathman 1979) have compared the two basic techniques used to quantify bacterial/ pathogen densities in water, the MPN and MF procedures. Both methods have advantages and shortcomings.

38. <u>Most-probable-number method</u>. The MPN method is more precise when greater numbers of replicate tubes are used. However, the number of tubes in this multistep procedure can quickly become resource-limiting if many water samples are tested. The probability tables used in the tabulation of the bacterial densities are designed to include a positive bias, thus possibly overestimate the true density. The MPN method produces imprecise measurements which in a given test may range from 30 to 289 percent of the absolute value

(Pipes 1978). There are several advantages of the MPN test. It is relatively facile and has been used extensively for many years, which allows comparison with historical data. This method is recommended over the MF procedure when turbidity greater than an NTU of 5 exists (Geldreich et al. 1978, LeChevallier et al. 1981, Evans et al. 1981). A greater recovery rate of bacterial indicators is possible in turbid samples because the lack of prefiltration and clogging of membranes allows all indicators present in the test aliquot to be in direct contact with the isolation media. This is also thought to provide a less stressful environment than the MF (Hufham 1974).

39. <u>Membrane filtration method</u>. Many of the shortcomings of the MF procedure have been previously pointed out (Bordner et al. 1977). However, it does have some characteristics which make it very popular. It is quicker and less resource-intensive than the MPN method. Larger quantities of water may be sampled, provided suspended particulate matter is low. This permits better estimates of indicator/pathogen densities. Bacterial counts obtained from filters are more accurate than MPN estimates, provided that: (a) proper dilution is used, (b) uniform distribution in the sample and on the filter is obtained, (c) the sample does not contain nonrecoverable stressed organisms, and (d) there are no inhibitory substances and microflora present.

New methods of identification

40. Many new methods have been developed in recent years to quantify fecal indicators (Dufour 1981, Bordner and Winter 1978, Mundt 1962b, Stuart et al. 1977). Those dealing with FC which have the greatest potential for being adopted on a widespread basis are simple modifications of the MF and MPN procedures. These recent developments are significant because in many cases they provide adequate solutions to the procedural problems which have been identified. These modifications can be divided into four areas: (a) new selective media, (b) preincubation at lower temperatures, (c) preincubation in nonselective media, (d) subsequent analyses on false-negative samples.

41. Any of the modifications, when used properly, should alleviate some traditional problems encountered with the standard methods. It is desirable to use a method which is simple and consistant on a regular basis so that comparisons between present and historical data can continually be made. The goal of any modification should be to obtain a more accurate

picture of water quality; therefore, successful modifications should be implemented as soon as possible.

Recommended Methods

42. The following methods are modified versions of the standard MF and MPN procedures. These modifications are slightly more involved but allow the investigator to better assess the potential for waterborne disease:

a. MF and MPN tests for fecal coliforms will give increased recoveries of stressed organisms if preincubated at 35° C for 4 hours. When testing chlorinated waters or effluents, preincubated test results should be initially compared to one-step results for possible toxic effects of preincubation. When turbidity and background growth are problems, use of the MPN method with preincubation is recommended. In the presumptive test of the MPN method, when tubes become turbid due to bacterial growth but do not produce gas, transfer a loopful of bacterial suspension to M-FC plates without rosolic acid and streak. Pick some bacterial growth from the M-FC plates after 24 hours at 44.5°C and reinoculate presumptive media. If gas is subsequently produced, transfer a loopful of bacteria from the presumptive tubes to EC confirmatory tubes. This method follows that of Evans et al. (1981), except that it is modified to identify FC rather than total coliforms by streaking M-FC plates, inoculating EC media, and incubating the tubes at 44.5°C.

<u>b.</u> Streamlined MF methods exist for enumerating <u>E. coli</u>, enterococci, <u>P. aeruginosa</u>, and <u>A. hydrophila</u>. They involve filtering known quantities of water and placing the membranes on organism-specific selective media for a few hours with subsequent transfer of the membrane to a medium which confirms the organisms of interest by color reactions. These are explained in detail in the Dufour et al. (1981), Rippey and Cabelli (1979), and Brodsky and Ciebin (1978) references.

43. Methods for collecting water samples are well known (Bordner and Winter 1978). Thorough rinsing of the sampler with sampling-site water is usually adequate for these tests. Cross-contamination is only a problem when sampling of contaminated waters is followed by subsequent sampling of relatively "clean" waters (Kittrell 1969).

44. When sampling sediments in swimming areas, the sample can often be collected by hand by scooping the upper few centimeters into a sterile widemouth bottle or plastic bag. Deeper samples may be obtained using a Van Donsel-Geldreich sampler or an Eckman or Ponar dredge (Bordner and Winter 1978). The sediment sample should be kept near 4° C and analyzed within a few hours. Thoroughly mix the sample to ensure homogeneity. Remove one gram or one milliliter of mixed sediment and suspend in 99 mL of sterile phosphate buffer. From this, tenfold dilutions may be made by mixing the sediment-buffer suspension, removing one milliliter, and transferring it to a tube of sterile 9-mL

buffer solution. Three or four dilutions may then be analyzed by the appropriate MF or MPN test to obtain accurate organism counts. Dilution and mixing of sediment samples for analyses is explained in many references, along with other laboratory techniques and quality assurance methods (Bordner and Winter 1978, American Public Health Association 1981).

45. As previously discussed, all present indicators of potential waterborne disease have their own characteristic shortcomings. In order to adequately assess water quality, a combination of several indicators should be used. Choosing which indicators to monitor will require knowledge of several factors: the indicator's growth characteristics; the pathogens it represents; when and where the indicator is likely to occur; its sources; and the physical, biological and chemical characteristics of the water body and its watershed. Simple methods exist for quantification of many indicators and pathogens and should be used when conditions exist for their potential occurrence. These are summarized in Table 5. TABLE 5Suggested Indicator and Pathogen Enumeration Methods,by Reference

C

Agent	Method (Reference)
<u>E</u> . <u>coli</u>	Dufour et al. 1981
Enterococci	Cabelli 1979
Fecal coliform	This reference
Fecal streptococci	Bordner and Winter 1978
Aeromonas hydrophila	Rippey and Cabelli 1979
<u>Pseudomonas</u> aeruginosa	Brodsky and Ciebin 1978
<u>Salmonella</u> spp.	American Public Health Association 1981 or Spino 1966
Klebsiella pneumoniae	Bagley and Seidler 1978
Clostridium perfringens	Cabelli 1979
<u>Candida</u> <u>albicans</u>	Buck 1977
<u>Yersinia enterocolitica</u>	Highsmith et al. 1977
<u>Shigella</u> spp.	American Public Health Association 1981
<u>Giardia lamblia</u>	Jakubowski and Ericksen 1979
Coliphage	Goyal et al. 1980
<u>Naegleria</u> spp.	Wellings et al. 1979
Legionella pneumophila	Orrison et al. 1981
Bifidobacteria	Evison and James 1975
Coprostanol	Dutka et al. 1974
Leptospira	American Public Health Association 1981

PART IV: DETERMINATION AND DETECTION OF CONTAMINATION

Exposure

46. The actual risk of contracting a waterborne illness from conaminated waters is uncertain. About all that can be said with certainty is that the risk is very low (Pipes 1978, Cabelli 1979, Moore 1975). The current microbiological criteria and standards for waters are derived from weak epidemiological studies (Cabelli 1980b). No studies have been conducted which can substantiate the current standards. Only recently were epidemiological studies completed which did show significant relationships between rates of waterborne illness and levels of E. coli and enterococci in lake swimming areas (Cabelli 1979, 1980a, Cabelli et al. 1979). An attack rate for gastroenteritis of about 1% was associated with E. coli or enterococci densities of approximately 10/100 mL. This indicates that very low densities of pathogens can cause infection, contradicting other studies which have reported infective dose requirements to be as high as 10¹¹ cells (Bonde 1981, Hornick et al. 1970). However infective doses range over several orders of magnitude for enteric bacteria. This is not surprising, since virulence in an organism can change easily and be lost quickly outside an ideal environment, particularly in a stressful aquatic environment. Some studies have suggested that one virion may cause infection; however, these studies did not simulate normal waterborne pathogen ingestion (Mechalas et al. 1972). A standard of 1 virus per 10 gallons of recreational water has been proposed, but this standard lacks epidemiologic foundation (Melnick 1976). Due to the greater resistance and survival of viruses relative to FC, the probability of a viral infection increases more rapidly than does the risk from Salmonella (Mechalas et al. 1972).

47. Eye, ear, nose, and throat ailments represent more than half of all the illnesses recorded among swimmers, gastrointestinal disturbances up to 20 percent, and skin irritation the remainder (Stevenson 1953, Hendry and Toth 1982). The following list gives the more significant waterborne diseases with a brief description of when they may occur.

a. The incidence and cause of gastroenteritis is largely unknown. Many cases in recent years have been attributed to viruses. The source of the contaminant is probably human; however, FC levels quite often are low. The incidence of gastroenteritis peaks in the summer as do most other waterborne outbreaks (Craun et al. 1978).

Infections of the skin and eyes may be caused by Aeromonas b. . hydrophila, P. aeruginosa, and schistosome species. As mentioned previously, these organisms are not always present in conjunction with high FC levels. Aeromonas may be present at high densities in warm waters which are relatively nutrient-rich (Craun 1978, Rippey and Cabelli 1979). Temperature appears to be the most important factor in mesotrophic waters (Colwell and Foster 1980, Straskrabova 1974). Particularly high densities have been noted in thermal discharge waters (Fliermans et al. 1977). P. aeruginosa has been associated with high nutrient levels; however this organism is also found in oligotrophic waters (Carson et al. 1973, Nemedi and Layni 1971). Various species of snail-transmitted bird schistosomes produce dermatitis, including human "swimmer's itch," in recreational waters. Infections due to A. hydrophila and P. aeruginosa have been increasing in occurrence in recent years, and detection of these organisms should be part of any monitoring program in recreational waters (Cabelli et al. 1976).

Diarrhea associated with waterborne infections may be caused by several organisms including: Salmonella, Shigella, Yersinia, Campylobacter, viruses, and Giardia. Viruses probably predominate as etiologic agents, with several types being implicated. As noted, their detection is relatively complicated and their incidence of occurrence uncertain. Yersinia, Campylobacter and Giardia are the dominating causes of enteric infections in some areas (Center for Disease Control 1979a, Pai et al. 1979, Sands et al. 1981). Yersinia enterocolitica is particularly common in Europe and Canada, with increasing isolations across the United States (Bottone 1977). Small animals, rodents, and pigs have been shown to be possible reservoirs of Yersinia (Kapperud 1975, Toma and Diedrick 1975, Kaneko and Hashimoto 1981). Infections have occurred from waters containing low FC levels. The extended time required for the more successful Yersinia enumeration methods precludes most laboratories from including it in routine isolations, so the incidence of this organism may be underestimated. Likewise, Campylobacter fetus is on the increase, with cattle, pigs, poultry and migratory waterfowl known as possible reservoirs of this organism (Luechtefeld et al. 1980, Center for Disease Control 1979a). The true incidence is probably also underestimated because of the failure to include it in routine methods. Giardia has received widespread attention in recent years as an etiologic agent: infection rates as high as 16% have been observed in some states (Center for Disease Control 1976b). Most backpackers are aware that the "clean, pure" mountain water is often contaminated with Giardia due to infestation from beavers and other animals. Giardia's ability to encyst enables it to survive long periods and disinfection treatments (Craun and McCabe 1973, Craun 1976, Rendtorff and Holt 1954, Rendtorff 1954, Berg 1973a, Malina 1976, Lin et al. 1971, Mack et al. 1972, Petrilli et al. 1974, Nestor and Coston 1976, Berg 1973b). Prolonged diarrhea typical of Giardia is often mistaken

as being caused by Campylobacter or rotavirus.

<u>d.</u> Two protozoa, <u>Naegleria</u> and <u>Acanthamoeba</u>, which may produce death upon infection have been recently found to be widespread in natural waters (Wellings et al. 1977, 1979, 0'Dell 1977). Fortunately, the incidence of infection is extremely low. Cases of Primary Amoebic Meningoencephalitis (PAME) due to <u>Naegleria</u> have been higher in recent years, but this may have been due to warmer weather which increased both water temperatures and swimming (Duma 1980). The organism thrives in warmer waters, overwintering in the sediments (Duma 1980, Wellings et al. 1977, Stevens et al. 1977). Isolation methods are presently too complex for <u>Naegleria</u> and <u>Acanthamoeba</u> to be included in routine monitoring programs (Duma 1980, Wellings et al. 1979, 0'Dell 1977).

e. Concern over <u>Legionella pneumophila</u> has increased in recent years with the realization that it is widespread and a cause of numerous illnesses and deaths (Fraser and McDade 1979, Fliermans et al. 1981). It has been shown to be ubiquitous, occurring in waters of many types (Fliermans et al. 1979, 1981). Since it has not been implicated in waterborne disease outbreaks and requires involved isolation techniques, routine monitoring is impractical.

Sampling Problems

48. Problems associated with attempting to assess water quality, in particular the microbiological quality, of an impoundment reservoir or lake are many and complicated. Stream monitoring is somewhat easier because at times flows are stable and areas are well mixed. However, the hydrology of an impoundment is very complex, with varying components such as currents, mixing, and retention time.

49. In order to get a clearer picture of the microbiological status of impoundments, thus the potential for waterborne disease, a strategic sampling program must be established. Data collected by this program, when combined with knowledge of watershed, water quality, and hydrologic characteristics of the impoundment, will allow for well-informed management of recreational areas and decreased transmission of waterborne disease.

50. The hydrology of an impoundment is perhaps the most critical factor in the determination of microbiological quality. Generally, impoundment of streams results in improved bacteriological quality because more selfpurification occurs through increased hydraulic retention time of the waters (Geldreich and Kenner 1969). Since the microbes of concern are planktonic, they move with the currents and settle with sediments. When human and

animal wastes are discharged, they remain near shore at high densities unless mixed by wind, water turbulence, stream inflows, or destratification (Geldreich and Kenner 1969, Thornton et al. 1980, McFeters and Stuart 1972, Schillinger and McFeters 1978). Stratification dynamics play a key role in bacterial distribution (Asthana and Burdick 1972, Lighthart 1975, Menon et al. 1971, Drury and Gearheart 1975). In nearshore shallow areas, vertical distribution is fairly uniform due to mixing and a uniform temperature (Geldreich and Kenner 1969). But during the summer, the remaining reservoir usually undergoes thermal stratification into three layers, which results in current restriction and inhibits nutrient transfer and bacterial distribution (Asthana and Burdick 1972, Menon et al. 1971, Drury and Gearheart 1975, Wetzel 1975). Bacteria in the water column will predominate in the layers above the thermocline where biological productivity predominates (Geldreich and Kenner 1969, Drury and Gearheart 1975, Wetzel 1975, Weiss and Oglesby 1960, Collins 1963). Sedimentation of clay, silt, and organic matter results in higher levels of bacteria and viruses at the sediment-water interface. This is a result of the tendency of the organisms to attach to particles with densities approximating 3,000 to 15,000 organisms per mL (Tsernoglou and Anthony 1971). As noted earlier, the sediments provide protection, nutrients, and extended survival to high concentrations of microorganisms. In fall and winter, cold water flows into the reservoir causing destratification (overturn) which results in relatively complete mixing, therefore a more uniform dispersion of bacteria, until warmer weather returns. When this mixing occurs, nutrients and microbes trapped in the hypolimnion circulate and a temporary deterioration in water quality may occur, including increased bacterial levels (Geldreich et al. 1980).

51. During stratification most mixing is horizontal, with slight vertical currents existing. Naturally the currents are greater in the old river channel and in open waters and less in coves and isolated portions of the impoundments (Wetzel 1975). Knowledge of these currents aids in determining the ability of areas to dilute contamination.

52. Water quality in reservoirs directly interacts with hydrologic and watershed characteristics to affect the microbiological status of the system. During summer stratification, runoff from the watershed and feeder streams tends to remain in the upper layers of the reservoir. These inflows may contain organic matter, nutrients, animal and human wastes, and other contaminants, so increased densities of microorganisms may occur above the thermocline (Geldreich et al. 1980, Wetzel 1975, Weiss and Oglesby 1960, Collins 1963).

53. Survival of indicator pathogen organisms has been observed to decrease near the surface due to the detrimental effects of ultraviolet light. Geldreich et al. (1980) showed greatest survival was at 0.9 m below the surface. Less penetration of ultraviolet light and cooler temperatures at this level probably account for this occurrence (Geldreich et al. 1980, McCambridge and McMeekin 1981). Extracellular products which are excreted by algae also promote growth and survival of bacteria. Therefore, algal blooms may allow bacterial densities to reach high levels in the absence of significant fecal pollution (McFeters et al. 1978).

54. Low dissolved oxygen levels in the hypolimnion have not been shown to affect survival of enteric organisms (Geldreich et al. 1980). Anoxic conditions will allow increased transfer from the sediment of inorganic species which cause numerous water quality problems at overturn periods. These problems include hydrogen sulfide release, high concentrations of reduced iron and manganese, fish kills, and increased bacterial levels (Wetzel 1975).

55. Storm events have been shown to play a major role in the water quality of impoundments (Nix et al. 1975). Increased flows from feeder streams carry the majority of the annual supply of nutrients during storm events (Nix et al. 1975). Also associated with increased flow and turbidity are high levels of indicator organisms. Indicator densities in swimming areas have been shown to increase dramatically to unsafe levels following rainfall as a result of high concentrations in runoff (Horak 1974, Hendry and Toth 1982). Sources of these fecal wastes and pathogens can be farm animals, wildlife, pets in urban and recreational areas, inadequate waste treatment systems, and septic tanks. Increased densities of enteric organisms in feeder streams and storm runoff have been observed in many studies (Thornton et al. 1980, Geldreich et al. 1980, Hendry and Toth 1982). Their dramatic increase during a storm is a function of many factors such as watershed area, land use, and duration and intensity of the rainfall.

The FC generally exhibit the "first-flush" phenomenon (Davis et al. 1977); i.e., like many nutrients and chemical species they are "flushed" through the stream during the initial increased storm flow. In large reservoirs, high FC densities in the streams are diluted out once the flow reaches the impoundment, with sedimentation, dispersion, and die-off predominating. (Thornton et al. 1980, Geldreich et al. 1980, Coutant and Shapple 1966, Churchill 1958, Powell and Berthouex 1967). Storm flows enter reservoirs in turbid plumes, proceeding through reservoirs as overflows, interflows, or underflows, depending on relative densities of the river water and the reservoir water. Good correlations for decreasing bacterial densities versus time have been shown from models which utilize water temperature, level of turbidity, the speed at which a turbid storm plume proceeds through the reservoir, and the distance it covers (Thornton et al. 1980).

56. Sediments are perhaps the most important yet most underutilized source of information on microbiological quality of impoundments. As previously pointed out, densities of indicator organisms and pathogens in sediments are often several orders of magnitude higher than in overlying waters and remain relatively stable over time, unlike microbial water densities. Microbial sediment densities are dependent on a multitude of variables; nearby sources of contamination are undoubtedly the most important. Clays and silts of smaller grain sizes usually have more organic matter associated with them as well as increased surface area and physical protection, which allow microorganisms much longer survival in clays and silts than in sandy bottoms (Gerba and McLeod 1976, Weiss 1951). Hydrology and recreational use determine the health significance of contaminated sediments. In areas where sediments are resuspended due to runoff, boats, swimming, wading, and water turbulence, high densities of organisms can be recirculated into the water column (Grimes 1975, 1980, Matson et al. 1978, LaLiberte & Grimes 1982). Sediments in areas where there are currents, or which are away from shore or free from the influence of contaminated runoff or discharges, seldom support high densities of organisms in overlying waters.

Detection of Contamination

57. Well-informed management strategies with respect to microbio-

logical water quality are possible with a well-planned monitoring system. Water densities of enteric organisms will fluctuate with the seasons. As pointed out earlier, stratification, agriculture, recreational uses, and rainfall patterns change with the seasons and should determine sampling frequencies and stations.

58. Sampling must be geared toward potential problem areas, from both contamination and human contact aspects. Taking one "grab" sample from an area of concern usually is insufficient and provides relatively meaningless results (Pipes 1978) because the distribution of enteric organisms through the water varies significantly, both horizontally and vertically (Pipes 1978, Thornton et al. 1980, Wetzel 1975, Palmer et al. 1976). Variations in densities as high as three orders of magnitude over a few centimeters have been demonstrated (Thornton et al. 1980). When sample collection is not being conducted in shallow areas, vertical samples should be collected down to the thermocline. In shallow areas, emphasis should be placed on increased numbers of horizontal samples and sediment samples. In the initial phase of a monitoring system, potential contamination and use areas should be sampled through one year to identify sites of importance as they relate to seasonal changes.

59. Sample sites should include the mouths of feeder streams; point source discharges; areas subject to agricultural, urban, and recreational runoff; drinking water supply intakes; and swimming areas. Also during initial phases of monitoring, storm events should be monitored and tracked with storm-flow plume samples taken through the reservoir to determine the degree of contamination and the areas affected by feeder streams. Swimming areas must also be sampled during and immediately after periods of rain to assess runoff effects.

60. Once a thorough survey is complete and significant sources are pinpointed, a reduced sampling program is practical. Unless the reservoir is also a drinking water supply, concentrated microbiological sampling is only necessary during periods when there is primary contact by users, usually from late spring to early fall.

61. The confidence one can place on monitoring data depends on the degree of known variability associated with the results. Typical bacterio-logical data are ε, ratic, fluctuating several orders of magnitude over

small areas, between replicates, and over short time periods (Pipes 1978, Horak 1974). Patchiness of organism distribution and fluctuating environmental variables in many areas means that confidence in data values will require replicate samples at high frequencies. Limited resources, however, often preclude this. Nonetheless, confidence intervals should be determined for the data. If the interval is unacceptably large, increased replicate numbers or sampling frequencies can be initiated to increase data confidence. For a 90% confidence coefficient, a confidence interval is calculated as:

where \overline{X} is the mean of the data, σ is the standard deviation, and n is the number of samples (Ward and Nielsen 1978). To get equal precision at all stations, sample numbers at each station can be increased or decreased accordingly:



where n_i is the sample number to be taken at the station i of interest, σ^2 is the variance at station i , and N is the total number of samples to be allocated (Ward and Nielsen 1978).

62. After an adequate data base of microbiological levels has been collected for an impoundment, it may be possible to assess the extent of spatial and temporal fluctuations at fewer sampling stations and at less frequent sampling intervals. This would prmit more replicates to be taken at each sampling, allowing increased data confidence.

PART V: CONCLUSIONS AND GENERAL RECOMMENDATIONS

С

63. Water quality conditions can be predicted for future impoundments by preimpoundment studies. Potential problems involving microbial pathogens may be detected by surveying the preimpoundment watershed area for manmade and natural factors which might promote problems in an impoundment.

64. Factors which should be assessed relating to man include surveys of population distribution; location of septic tanks; amount of urban runoff; municipal and industrial discharges; and agricultural runoff including fertilizers, pesticides, herbicides, and animal wastes. Since many of these factors and activities will affect streams in the preimpoundment area, streams should be monitored for FC, <u>E</u>. <u>coli</u>, and enterococci. If high densities of these indicators are encountered, further surveys for the incidence of pathogens should be conducted. If human wastes are the pre-dominant source of contamination, monitoring of <u>Salmonella</u>, coliphage, <u>Campylobacter fetus</u>, and <u>Giardia</u> should be considered. Where agricultural wastes predominate, there will be a possibility of <u>Salmonella</u>, <u>Leptospira</u>, Campylobacter fetus, and parasitic ova occurring.

65. Interrelated with and in addition to manmade factors of contamination are the natural characteristics of the preimpoundment watershed. A survey of physical, chemical, and biological characteristics should include the following: soil types; drainage; amount and extent of vegetation; yearly rainfall; water demand of area; predicted retention time of impoundment; air temperature averages; and animal population including types, numbers, pathogen and parasite potential, and occurrence of parasite vectors. Stream flow will dramatically affect microbial densities and should be a factor in determining sample frequencies.

66. When impoundment studies of streams implicate wildlife as being a significant source of fecal contamination, microbial monitoring in streams should be suitably adjusted. Pathogens which possibly could occur are <u>Salmonella</u>, <u>Yersinia</u>, <u>Campylobacter</u> <u>fetus</u>, <u>Francisella</u> <u>tularensis</u>, <u>Giardia</u> <u>lamblia</u>, schistosomes and parasitic ova.

67. The physical and chemical characteristics of the preimpoundment area will determine if the presence of microbial pathogens will be a

significant problem. Watersheds in which erosion is a problem will likely lead to waters of high turbidity, thus high bacterial numbers. Soils of large clay and silt fractions will promote pathogen survival, but in early impoundment stages they could potentially cause numerous adverse water quality conditions such as high biological oxygen demand, excessive nutrient release, and hydrogen sulfide production. If the impoundment will be of significant depth, stratification may occur which decreases mixing of the water column, thus limiting natural purification. All of the significant natural and manmade factors which relate to the future water quality of the impoundment must be determined to accurately predict microbial problems.

ſĊ

68. A key factor in the potential for waterborne disease transmission from enteric organisms is the siting of swimming areas. Beaches which are established in areas where water currents are prevalent will allow fecal pollution to be flushed out of the swimming area and diluted to safe levels. Areas with active currents can be located by tracer dye studies. Coves and shelterer areas tend to lack adequate circulation, and enteric organisms may reach dangerous levels in the water and sediments. Boat ramps should be located well away from swimming areas because the water turbulence from boats can resuspend sediments and pathogens into the water column (Horak 1974). Swimming areas should have predominantly sandy bottoms. Enteric bacteria and viruses do not survive nearly so long in sand and, therefore, do not concentrate as they may do in sediments of silt and clay. Bacterial counts from sands can be several orders of magnitude less than equal volumes of fine-grained sediments.

69. Preliminary studies should reveal the level of contamination from feeder streams and point and nonpoint source discharges. Beaches should be placed an adequate distance from critical runoff areas and feeder streams so that even during storm events the storm plumes do not carry contaminated water into the beach areas. If studies reveal elevated indicator levels in swimming areas following periods of rain, the beaches should be temporarily closed to allow for die-off dilution of the organisms. Because of the known relationship between artificially warmed water (e.g. power plants' discharge plumes) and the frequency of certain pathogens (e.g. <u>Naegleria</u> and <u>Aeromonas</u>), swimming areas and boat ramps should not be permitted near thermal discharges. Water criteria for standards do not exist for indicator

bacteria in sediments as they do for bacteria in water. This shortcoming, however, does not negate the need for sediment monitoring, for the reasons previously mentioned. High levels of indicator bacteria in the sediment should be regarded as indicators that their resuspension into the water column could violate water quality standards or increase the possibility of waterborne disease outbreaks.

70. Knowing which organisms to monitor is a difficult problem to solve without thorough studies of each impoundment. Each water system has unique water quality and watershed characteristics which permit varying growth and survival rates for different microorganisms. Testing should include regular monitoring during high-use periods, employing simple, consistent, and reproducible enumeration methods for FC, <u>E</u>. <u>coli</u>, and enterococci. During the summer, <u>P</u>. <u>aeruginosa</u> and <u>A</u>. <u>hydrophila</u> should also be monitored as often as resources allow. Densities of these organisms are relatively constant, hence require less sampling. Sampling in swimming areas should always include sediment in addition to water.

71. Establishment of a monitoring system which is geared toward critical areas and critical periods, such as those of intense recreational use and storm events, can prevent unnecessary sampling. Using suggested sampling methods, frequencies, indicators, and isolation procedures will provide data which are meaningful and useful. This will permit sound reservoir management which will greatly reduce any risks of waterborne disease outbreaks.

LITERATURE CITED

C

Allen, L. A., J. Grindley and E. Brooks. 1953. Some chemical and bacterial characteristics of bottom deposits from lakes and estuaries. J. Hygiene. 51:185-192.

American Public Health Association. 1981. Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater, 15th ed. American Public Health Association, New York.

Andre, D. A., H. H. Weiser and G. W. Maloney. 1967. Survival of bacterial enteric pathogens in farm pond water. J. Am. Water Works Assoc. 59:503-508.

Asthana, J. B. and J. C. Burdick. 1972. III. Bacteriological water quality characteristics of Fort Loudon Reservoir. Tenn. Water Resources Res. Center Res. Rpt. 21.

Bagley, S. T. and R. J. Seidler. 1978. Primary <u>Klebsiella</u> identification with MacConkey-inositol-carbenicillin agar. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 36:536-538.

Berg, G. 1973a. Removal of viruses from sewage, effluents, and waters. A review. Bull. World Health Org. 49:451-460.

Berg, G. 1973b. Removal of viruses from sewage, effluents, and waters. Present and future trends. Bull. World Health Org. 49:461.

Berg, G. H., H. L. Bodily, E. H. Lennette, J. L. Melnick and T. G. Metcalf (eds.). 1976. Viruses in Water. Amer. Publ. Health Assoc., Washington, D.C.

Bissonnette, G. K., J. J. Jezeski, G. A. McFeters and D. G. Stuart. 1975. Influence of environmental stress on enumeration of indicator bacteria from natural waters. Appl. Microbiol. 29:186-194.

Bitton, G. 1978. Survival of enteric viruses, p. 273-299. In R. Mitchell (ed.), Water Pollution Microbiology, Volume 2. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York.

Bonde, G. J. 1963. Bacterial indicators of water pollution, p. 303-308. In, A Study of Quantitative Estimation. Teknisk Forlag, Copenhagen.

Bonde, G. J. 1977. Bacterial indication of water pollution, p. 273-364. In M. R. Droop and H. W. Jannasch (Eds.), Advances in Aquatic Microbiology. Academic Press, New York.

Bonde, G. J. 1981. <u>Salmonella</u> and other pathogenic bacteria. The Sci. Total Environ. 18:1-11.

Bordner, R. H. 1977. The membrane filter dilemma, p. 8-11. In R. H. Bordner, C. F. Frith and J. A. Winter (eds.), Proceedings of the Symposium on the Recovery of Indicator Organisms Employing Membrane Filters. U. S. Environmental Protection Agency, Cincinnati, Ohio. EPA-500/9-77-024.

- Bordner, R. H. C. F. Frith and J. A. Winter (eds.). 1977. Proceedings of the Symposium on the Recovery of Indicator Organisms Employing Membrane Filters. U. S. Environmental Protection Agency, Cincinnati, Ohio. EPA-600/9-77-024.
- Bordner, R. and J. Winter (eds.). 1978. Microbiological Methods for Monitoring the Environment, Water, and Wastes. U. S. Environmental Protection Agency, Cincinnati, Ohio. EPA-600/8-78-017.
- Bottone, E. J. 1977. <u>Yersinia enterocolitica</u>: a panoramic view of a charismatic microorganism. Crit. Rev. Clin. Lab. Sci. 5:211-241.
- Botzler, R. G., F. T. Wetzler, A. B. Cowan and T. J. Quan. 1976. <u>Yersinia</u> in pond water and snails. J. Wildl. Dis. 12:492-496.
- Brodsky, M. H. and B. W. Ciebin. 1978. Improved medium for recovery and enumeration of <u>Pseudomonas</u> <u>aeruginosa</u> from water using membrane filters. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. <u>36:36-42</u>.
- Buck, J. D. 1977. <u>Candida albicans</u>, p. 139-147. In A. W. Hoadley and B. J. Dutka (eds.), Bacterial Indicators/Health Hazards Associated with Water. Am. Soc. Test. Materials, Philadelphia, Pa.
- Cabelli, V. J. 1976. Indicators of recreational water quality, p. 222-238. In A. W. Hoadley and B. J. Dutka (eds.), Bacterial Indicators/ Health Hazards Associated with Water. Am. Soc. Test. Materials, Philadelphia, Pa.
- Cabelli, V. J. 1979. Evaulation of recreational water quality, the EPA approach, p. 14.1-14.23. In A. James and L. Evison (eds.), Biological Indicators of Water Quality. John Wiley & Sons, New York.
- Cabelli, V. J. 1980a. Health effects quality criteria for marine recreational waters. U. S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, D. C.
- Cabelli, V. J. 1980b. What do water quality indicators indicate? p. 305-336. In R. R. Colwell and J. Foster (eds.), Aquatic Microbial Ecology. Univ. of Maryland.
- Cabelli, V. J., F. T. Brezenski, A. P. Dufour and M. A. Levin. 1974. Microbiological Methods for Monitoring Marine Waters for Health Effects Organisms, Proceedings. U. S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, D. C. EPA-600/4-74-004.
- Cabelli, V. J., A. P. Dufour, M. A. Levin, L. J. McCabe and P. W. Haberman. 1979. Relationship of microbial indicators to health effects at marine bathing beaches. Amer. J. Public Health 69:690.
- Cabelli, V. J., H. Kennedy and M. A. Levin. 1976. <u>Pseudomonas aeruginosa</u> -fecal coliform relationships in estuarine and fresh recreational waters. J. Water Pollut. Control Fed. 48:367-376.
- Carson, L. A., M. S. Favero, W. W. Bond and M. J. Petersen. 1973. Morphological, biochemical, and growth characteristics of <u>Pseudomonas cepacia</u> from distilled water. Appl. Microbiol. 25:476-483.

- Carter, H. H., R. C. Whaley, and J. H. Carpenter. 1967. The bactericidal effects of seawater under natural conditions. J. Water Pollut. Control Fed. 39:1184.
- Center for Disease Control. 1977. Reported Morbidity and Mortality in the U.S., 1976. Atlanta, Ga.
- Center for Disease Control. 1979a. <u>Campylobacter</u> enteritis--Iowa. Morb. Mortal. Weekly Rep. 28:565-566.
- Center for Disease Control. 1979b. Intestinal Parasite Surveillance, Annual Summary 1978. Atlanta, Ga.
- Center for Disease Control. 1980. Water-Related Disease Outbreaks, Annual Summary 1978. Atlanta, Ga.

Chamberlin, C. E. and R. Mitchell. 1978. A decay model for enteric bacteria in natural waters, p. 325-348. In R. Mitchell (ed.), Water Pollution Microbiology, Volume 2. John Wiley & Sons, New York.

Churchill, M. A. 1958. Effects of storage impoundments on water quality. Paper 2928. Transactions: American Society of Civil Engineers. 123:419.

Colberg, P. J., W. D. Christensen, T. L. Mapes, K. Heihman and M. C. Bromerl. 1974. An evaluation of fecal coliforms, fecal streptococci ratios, intermediate coliforms, and <u>Salmonella</u> indices of fresh water contamination. Abstr. Annu. Meet. Am. Soc. Microbiol. G195.

Collins, V. G. 1963. The distribution and ecology of bacteria. Proc. Soc. Water Treat. Exam. 12:40.

Colwell, R. R. and J. Foster (eds.). 1980. Aquatic Microbial Ecology. Univ. of Maryland, College Park.

Coutant, C. C. and R. F. Shapple. 1966. Bacteria in an impounding reservoir. J. Am. Water Works Assoc. 58:1275.

Craun, G. F. 1976. Microbiology-waterborne outbreaks. J. Water Pollut. Control Fed. 48:1378-1379.

Craun, G. F. 1978. Impact of the coliform standard on the transmission of disease, p. 21-35. In C. W. Hendricks (ed.), Evaluation of the Microbiology Standards for Drinking Water. U. S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, D. C. EPA-570/9-78-00C.

Craun, G. F. 1979. Waterborne giardiasis in the United States: a review. Am. J. Publ. Health. 69:817-819.

Craun, G. F. 1980. Waterborne outbreaks in the United States. 1971-1978. Am. Water Works Assoc. 1980 Ann. Conf. Proc., Denver, Colo.

Craun, G. F. and L. J. McCabe. 1973. Review of the causes of waterborne disease outbreaks. J. Am. Water Works Assoc. 65:74-84.

- Davis, E. M., D. M. Casserly and J. D. Moore. 1977. Bacterial relationships in stormwaters. Water Resources Bull. 13:895-905.
- DeFlora, S., G. P. DeRenzi and G. Badolati. 1975. Detection of animal viruses in coastal seawater and sediments. Appl. Microbiol. 30:472.
- Drury, D. D. and R. A. Gearheart. 1975. Bacterial population dynamics and dissolved oxygen minimum. J. Am. Water Works Assoc. 67:154.
- Dufour, A. P. 1978. <u>Escherichia coli</u>: the fecal coliform, p. 48-58. In A. W. Hoadley and B. J. Dutka (eds.), Bacterial Indicators/Health Hazards Associated with Water. Am. Soc. Test. Materials. Philadelphia, Pa.
- Dufour, A. P. and V. J. Cabelli. 1976. Characteristics of <u>Klebsiella</u> from textile finishing plant effluents. J. Water Pollut. Control Fed. 48:872-879.
- Dufour, A. P., E. R. Strickland and V. J. Cabelli. 1981. Membrane filter method for enumerating <u>Escherichia coli</u>. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 41:1152-1158.
- Duma, R. J. 1980. Study of Pathogenic Free-Living Amebas in Fresh-Water Lakes in Virginia. U. S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, D. C. EPA-600/S1-80-037.
- Dutka, B. J. 1973. Coliforms are an inadequate index of water quality. J. Environ. Health. 36:39-46.
- Dutka, B. J. 1979. Microbiological indicators, problems and potential of new microbial indicators of water quality, p. 18-1—18-24. In A. James and L. Evison (eds.), Biological Indicators of Water Quality. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York.
- Dutka, B. J., A. S. Y. Chau, and J. Coburn. 1974. Relationships between bacterial indicators of water pollution and faecal sterols. Water Res. 8:1047-1055.
- Dutka, B. J. and A. El-Shaarawi. 1975. Relationship between various bacterial populations and coprostanol and cholesterol. Can. J. Microbiol. 9:1386-1398.
- Dutka. B. J., S. Kuchma and K. K. Kwan. 1979. Fecal coliform and <u>Escherichia</u> <u>coli</u> estimates, tip of the iceberg. Water, Air, and Soil Pollut. 11:349-362.
- Evans, T. M., M. W. LeChevallier, C. E. Waarvick and R. J. Seidler. 1981. Coliform species recovered from untreated surface water and drinking water by the membrane filter, standard, and modified most-probable-number techniques. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 41:657-663.
- Evans, T. M., C. E. Waarvick, R. J. Seidler and M. W. LeChevallier. 1981. Failure of the most-probable-number technique to detect coliforms in drinking water and raw water supplies. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 41:130-138.

Evison, L. J. and A. James. 1975. Bifidobacterium as an indicator of faecal pollution in water. Proj. Wat. Tech. 7:57-66.

- Farmer, J. N. 1980. The Protozoa: Introduction to Protozoology. C. V. Mosby Co., St. Louis.
- Faust, M. A., A. E. Aotaky and M. T. Hargadon. 1975. Effect of physical parameters on the in situ survival of <u>Escherichia</u> <u>coli</u> MC-6 in an estuarine environment. Appl. Microbiol. 30:800-806.
- Fliermans, C. B., W. B. Cherry, L. H. Orrison, S. J. Smith, D. L. Tison and D. H. Pope. 1981. Ecological distribution of <u>Legionella pneumophila</u>. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 41:9-16.
- Fliermans, C. B., W. B. Cherry, L. H. Orrison and L. Thacker. 1979. Isolation of <u>Legionella pneumophila</u> from nonepidemic-related aquatic habitats. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 37:1239-1242.
- Fliermans, C. B., R. W. Gorden, T. C. Hazen and G. W. Esch. 1977. <u>Aeromonas</u> distributions and survival in a thermally altered lake. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 33:114-122.
- Fraser, D. W. and J. E. McDade. 1979. Legionellosis. Scientif. Amer. 241:82-99.
- Gallagher, T. P. and D. E. Spino. 1968. The significance of numbers of coliform bacteria as an indicator of enteric pathogens. Water Res. 2:169-175.
- Galvani, M. M. 1974. Fecal contamination--the water: part I, analysts' responsibility. Sew. Works. 12:66-69.
- Gameson, A. L. H. and J. R. Saxon. 1967. Field studies on effect of daylight on mortality of coliform bacteria. Water Res. 1:279-295.
- Geldreich, E. E. 1970. Applying bacteriological parameters to recreational water quality. J. Am. Water Works Assoc. 62:113-120.
- Geldreich, E. E. 1972. Water-borne pathogens p. 307-241. In R. Mitchell (ed.), Water Pollution Microbiology, Volume 1. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York.
- Geldreich, E. E., J. M. Allen, and R. H. Taylor. 1978. Interferences to coliform detection in potable water supplies, p. 13-20. In C. W. Hendricks (ed.), Evaluation of the Microbiology Standards for Drinking Water. U. S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, D. C. EPA-570/9-78-00C.
- Geldreich, E. E., L. C. Best, B. A. Kenner and D. J. Van Donsel. 1968. The bacteriological aspects of stormwater pollution. J. Water Pollut. Control Fed. 40:1861-1872.

Geldreich, E. E. and B. A. Kenner. 1969. Concepts of fecal streptococci in stream pollution. J. Water Pollut. Control Fed. 41:12336-12352.

- Geldreich, E. E., H. D. Nash, D. F. Spino, and D. J. Reasoner. 1980. Bacterial dynamics in a water supply reservoir; a case study. J. Am. Water Works Assoc. 72:31-40.
- Gerba, C. P. 1980. Indicator bacteria and the occurrence of viruses in marine waters, p. 348-355. In R. R. Colwell and J. Foster (eds.), Aquatic Microbial Ecology. Univ. of Maryland.
- Gerba, C. P. and S. M. Goyal. 1978. Detection and occurrence of enteric viruses in shellfish: a review. J. Food Protec. 41:743-754.
- Gerba, C. P., S. M. Goyal, E. M. Smith and J. L. Melnick. 1977. Distribution of viral and bacterial pathogens in a coastal canal community. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 8:279-282.

Gerba, C. P. and J. S. McLeod. 1976. Effect of sediments on the survival of <u>Escherichia</u> <u>coli</u> in marine waters. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 32:114-120.

- Ghirelli, R. P. and L. Marker. 1977. Bacterial water quality in wilderness areas. Calif. Water Resources Center. NTIS #PB-279 690.
- Gordon, R. C. 1972. Winter Survival of Fecal Indicator Bacteria in a Sub-Arctic Alaskan River. U. S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, D. C. EPA-R-2-72-013.

Goyal, S. M., C. P. Gerba and J. L. Melnick. 1977. Occurrence and distribution of bacterial indicators and pathogens in canal communities along Texas coasts. Appl. Microbiol. 34:139-149.

Goyal, S. M., C. P. Gerba and J. L. Melnick. 1978 Prevalence of human enteric viruses in coastal canal communities. J. Water Pollut. Control Fed. 50:2247-2256.

Goyal, S. M., C. P. Gerba and J. L. Melnick. 1979. Human enteroviruses in oysters and their overlying waters. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 37:572-581.

Goyal, S. M., K. S. Zerda and C. P. Gerba. 1980. Concentration of coliphages from large volumes of water and wastewater. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 39:85-91.

Grimes, D. J. 1975. Release of sediment-bound fecal coliforms by dredging. Appl. Microbiol. 29:109-111.

Grimes, D. J. 1980. Bacteriological water quality effect of hydraulically dredging contaminated upper Mississippi River bottom sediment. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 39:782-789.

- Gudding, R. and O. Krogstad. 1975. The persistence of <u>Escherichia coli</u> and <u>Salmonella</u> <u>typhimurium</u> in fine-grained soil. Acta Agric. Scand. 25:285-288.
- Gyllenberg, H., S. Niemela and T. Sormunen. 1960. Survival of bifid bacteria in water as compared with that of coliform bacteria and enterococci. Appl. Microbiol. 8:20.
- Hacking, M. A., and L. Sileo. -1974. <u>Yersinia</u> <u>enterocolitica</u> and <u>Yersinia</u> <u>pseudotuberculosis</u> from wildlife in Ontario. J Wildl. Dis. 10:452-457.
- Haley, C. E. et al. 1980. Outbreaks of waterborne disease in the United States, 1978. J. Inf. Dis. 141:794.
- Hendricks, C. W. 1971. Increased recovery rates of <u>Salmonellae</u> from stream bottom sediments versus surface waters. Appl. Microbiol. 21:379-380.
- Hendry, G. S. and A. Toth. 1982. Some effects of land use on bacteriological water quality in a recreational lake. Water Res. 16:105-112.
- Herson, D. S. 1980. Hindrance of Coliform Recovery by Turbidity and Non-Coliforms. U. S. Environmental Protection Agency, Cincinnati, Ohio. EPA-600/2-80-097.
- Highsmith, A. K., J. C. Feeley and G. K. Morris. 1977. Isolation of <u>Yersinia</u> <u>enterocolitica</u> from water, p. 265-274. In A. W. Hoadley and B. J. Dutka (eds). Bacterial Indicators/Health Hazards Associated with Water. Am. Soc. Testing Materials, Philadelphia, Pa.
- Highsmith, A. K., J. C. Feeley, P. Skaliy, J. G. Wells and B. T. Wood. 1977 Isloation of <u>Yersinia enterocolitica</u> from well water and growth in distilled water. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 34:745-750.
- Hill, W. F., E. W. Akin and W. H. Benton. 1971. Enteric viruses in ground and surface water: a review of the occurrence and survival. In V. Snoeyink and V. Griffin (eds.), Virus and Water Quality: Occurrence and Control. Univ. of Illinois, Urbana.
- Horak, W. F. 1974. A bacterial water quality investigation of Canyon Lake, Arizona. M.S. thesis. University of Arizona, Tucson.
- Hornick, R. B., S. E. Greisman, T. E. Woodward, H. L. Dupont, A. T. Dawkins and M. J. Snyder. 1970. Typhoid fever: pathogenesis and immunologic control. N. Eng. J. Med. 283:686.
- Hufham, J. B. 1974. Evaluating the membrane fecal coliform test by using <u>Escherichia coli</u> as the indicator organism. Appl. Microbiol. 27:771-776.
- Hussong, D., J. M. Damare, R. M. Weiner and R. R. Colwell. 1981. Bacteria associated with false-positive most-probable-number coliform test results for shellfish and estuaries. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 41:35-45.

- Jakubowski, W. and T. H. Ericksen. 1979. Methods for detection of <u>Giardia</u> cysts in water supplies, p. 193-210. In W Jakubowski and J. C. Hoff (eds.), Waterborne Transmission of Giardiasis, Proceedings of a Symposium. U. S. Environmental Protection Agency Cincinnati, Ohio. EPA-600/9-79-001.
- Jakubowski, W. and J. C. Hoff (eds.). 1979. Waterborne Transmission of Giardiasis, Proceedings of a Symposium. U. S. Environmental Protection Agency. Cincinnati, Ohio. EPA-600/9-79-001.
- Kaneko, K. I. and N. Hashimoto. 1981. Occurrence of <u>Yersinia</u> enterocolitica in wild animals. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 41:635-638.
- Kapperud, G. 1975. <u>Yersinia enterocolitica</u> in small rodents from Norway, Sweden, and Finland. Acta Pathol. Microbiol. Scand. Sect. B. 83:335-342.
- Katzenelson, E. 1978. Survival of viruses in natural waters. In G. Berg (ed.), Indicators of Viruses in Water and Food. Ann Arbor Science Publ. Ann Arbor, Michigan.
- Kehr, R. W. and C. T. Butterfield. 1943. Notes on the relation between coliforms and enteric pathogens. Publ. Health Rep. 58:589-607.
- King, J. G. and A. C. Mace, Jr. Effects of recreation on water quality. J. Water Pollut. Control Fed. 46:2453-2459.
- Kittrell, F. W. 1969. A Practical Guide to Water Quality Studies of Streams. Fed. Water Pollution Control Administration, Washington, D. C.
- Klock, J. W. 1971. Survival of coliform bacteria in wastewater treatment lagoons. J. Water Pollut. Control Fed. 43:2071-2083
- Kott, Y. 1981. Viruses and bacteriophages. The Sci. Total Environ. 18:13-23.
- Kott, Y., N. Rose, S. Sperber and N. Betzer. 1976. Bacteriophages as viral pollution indicators. Water Res. 8:165-171.
- Kraus, M. P. 1977. Bacterial indicators and potential health hazard of aquatic viruses, p. 196-217. In A. W. Hoadley and B. J. Dutka (eds.), Bacterial Indicators/Health Hazards Associated with Water. Am. Soc. Test. Materials. Philadelphia, Pa.
- Ktsanes, V. K., A. C. Anderson and J. E. Diem. 1981. Health Effects of Swimming in Lake Pontchartrain at New Orleans. U. S. Environmental Protection Agency, Cincinnati, Ohio. EPA-600/S1-81-027.
- LaBelle, R. L. and C. P. Gerba. 1979. Influence of pH, salinity, and organic water on the adsorption of enteric viruses to estuarine sediment. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 38:93-101.
- LaBelle, R. and C. P. Gerba. 1982. Investigations into the protective effect of estuarine sediment on viruses survival. Water Res. 16:469-478.

- LaBelle, R., L., C. P. Gerba, S. M. Goyal, J. L. Melnick, I. Cech and G. F. Bogdan. 1980. Relationships between environmental factors, bacterial indicators, and the occurrence of enteric viruses in estuarine sediments. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 39:588-596.
- LaLiberte, P. and D. J. Grimes. 1982. Survival of <u>Escherichia coli</u> in lake bottom sediment. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 43:623-628.
- Leahy, T. J., F. R. Gabler, M. Wier, G. A. McFeters and W. Litsky. 1980. False negatives associated with coliform confirmations. Abstr. Annu. Meet. Am. Soc. Microbiol. Q44.
- LeChevallier, N. W., T. M. Evans and R. J. Seidler. 1981. Effect of turbidity on chlorination efficiency and bacterial persistence in drinking water. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 42:159-167.
- Levin, M. A. 1977. Bifidobacteria as water quality indicators, p. 131-138. In A. W. Hoadley and B. J. Dutka (eds.), Bacterial Indicators/ Health Hazards Associated with Waters. Am. Soc. Test. Materials, Philadelphia, Pa.
- Lighthart, B. 1975. A cluster analysis of some bacteria in the water column of Green Lake, Washington. Can. J. Microbiol. 21:392-394.
- Lin, O. C., H. R. Seraichekas, E. W. Akin et al. 1971. Relative resistance of twenty human enteric viruses to free chlorine in Potomac water, p. 171-194. In V. Snoeyinkard, V. Griffin (eds.), Virus and Water Quality: Occurrence and Control. Univ. of Illinois, Urbana.
- Luechtefeld, N. A., M. J. Blaser, L. B. Reller and W-L Wang. 1980. Isolation of <u>Campylobacter-fetus</u> spp. jejuni fowl. J. Clin. Microbiol. 12:406-408.
- Mack, W. N., Y. S. Lu and D. B. Coohon. 1972. Isolation of poliomyelitis virus from a contaminated well. Health Services Rept. 87:271.
- Malina, J. F., Jr. 1976. Viral pathogen inactivation during treatment of wastewater, p. A-23. In L. B. Baldwin et al. (eds.), Virus Aspects of Applying Municipal Wastes to Land. Univ. Florida, Gainesville.
- Malina, J. F., Jr. and B. P. Sagik (eds.). 1974. Virus Survival in Water and Wastewater Systems. Center for Research in Water Resources. Univ. of Texas at Austin.
- Matson, E. A., S. G. Hornor and J. D. Buck. 1978. Pollution indicators and other microorganisms in river sediment. J. Water Pollut. Control Fed. 50:13-19.
- McCambrdige, J. and T. M. McMeekin. 1981. Effect of solar radiation and predacious microorganisms on survival of fecal and other bacteria. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 41:1083-1087.

McFeters, G. A., G. K. Bissonnette, J. J. Jezeski, C. A. Thomson and D. G. Stuart. 1974. Comparative survival of indicator bacteria and enteric pathogens in well water. Appl. Microbiol. 27:823-829.

- McFeters, G. A., J. E. Schillinger, and D. G. Stuart. 1978. Alternative indicators of water contamination and some physiological characteristics of heterotrophic bacteria in water, p. 37-48. In C. W. Hendricks (ed.), Evaluation of the Microbiology Standards for Drinking Water. U. S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, D. C. EPA-570/9-78-00C.
- McFeters, G. A. and D. G. Stuart. 1972. Survival of coliform bacteria in natural waters: field and laboratory studies with membrane-filter chambers. Appl. Microbiol. 24:805-811.
- McFeters. G. A., S. A. Stuart and S. B. Olson. 1978. Growth of heterotrophic bacteria and algal extracellular products in oligotrophic waters. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 35:383-391.
- McKee, J. E. and H. W. Wolf. 1963. Water Quality Criteria. St. Water Qual. Cont. Bd., Sacramento, Ca.
- Mechalas, B. J., K. K. Hekimian, L. A. Schinazi and R H Dudley. 1972. Water Quality Criteria Data Book, Volume 4--An Investigation into Recreational Water Quality. U. S. Environmental Protection Agency. Washington, D. C. EPA-18040-DAZ-04/72.
- Melnick, J. L. 1976. Viruses in water: an introduction, p. 3-11. In G. Berg, H. L. Bodily, E. H. Lennett, J. L. Melnick and T. G. Metcalf (eds.), Viruses in Water. American Public Health Assoc., Washington, D. C.
- Menon, A. S. et al. 1971. Preliminary bacteriological investigation of the Lake Ontario thermal bar. Proceedings of 14th Conference on Great Lakes Res., Univ. Toronto, Toronto.
- Menon, A. S. and W. K. Bedford. 1973. Study of the seasonal effects on the microbiology of northern pulp and paper mill aeration lagoons. Can. Dept. Environ. Technol. Develop. Rpt. 4-Ar-73-1. Ottawa.

Metcalf, T. G. 1971. Biologic parameters in water transmission of viruses, p. 1-16. In V. Snoeyink and V. Griffin (eds.), Virus and Water Quality: Occurrence and Control. Univ. of Illinois, Urbana.

Metcalf, T. G. 1978. Indicators for viruses in natural waters, p. 301-324. In R. Mitchell (ed.), Water Pollution Microbiology, Volume 2. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York.

Metcalf, T. G. and W. C. Stiles. 1968. Viral pollution of shellfish in estuary waters. J. San. Eng. Div. Proc. Am. Soc. Civil Eng. 94:595.

- Miescier, J. J. 1977. The occurrence and variability of bacterial indicator organisms in raw and treated sewage. M. S. thesis. Univ. of Rhode Island, Kingston.
- Mitchell, D. G. and M. J. Starzyk. 1975. Survival of <u>Salmonella</u> and other indicator organisms. Can. J. Microbiol. 21:1420-1421.
- Mitchell, R., S. Yankofsky and H. S. Jannasch. 1967. Lysis of <u>Escherichia</u> coli by marine organisms. Nature (London). 215:891-893.

1

- Moore, B. 1959. Sewage contamination of coastal bathing waters in England and Wales: a bacteriological and epidemiological study. J. Hyg. 57:435.
- Moore, B. 1971. The health hazards of pollution, p. 11-32. In G. Sykes and F. A. Skinner (eds.), Microbial Aspects of Pollution. Academic Press, New York.
- Moore, B. 1975. The case against microbial standards for bathing beaches, p. 103-109. In H. Gameson (ed.), Discharge of Sewage from Sea Outfalls. Pergamon, London.
- Muller, G. 1964. What are the lessons of the Hamburg Flood for drinking water standards? Arch. Hyg. Bakt. 148:321.
- Mundt, J. O. 1962a. Occurrence of enterococci in animals in a wild environment. Appl. Microbiol. 11:136-140.
- Mundt, J. O. 1962b. Occurrence of enterococci on plants in a wild environment. Appl. Microbiol. 11:141-144.
- Murtaugh, J. J. and R. L. Bunch. 1967. Sterols as a measure of faecal pollution. J. Water Pollut. Control Fed. 39:404-409.
- Neilson, A. H. 1978. The occurrence of Aeromonads in activated sludge: isolation of <u>Aeromonas sobria</u> and its possible confusion with <u>Escherichia</u> <u>coli</u>. J. Appl. Bacteriol. 44:259-264.
- Nemedi, L. and B. Layni. 1971. Incidence and hygienic importance of <u>Pseudomonas aeruginosa</u> in water. Acta Microbiol. Acad. Sci. Hung. 18:319-325.
- Nestor, I. and L. Coston. 1976. Presence of certain enteroviruses (coxsackie) in sewage effluents and in riverwaters of Rumania. J. Hyg. Epidemiol. Immunol. 20:137.
- Nix, J. F., R. L. Meyer, E. H. Schmitz, J. D. Bragg and R. Brown. 1975. Collection of environmental data on DeGray Reservoir and the watershed of the Caddo River, Arkansas. Arkansas Water Resources Research Center and Ouachita Baptist University. U. S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, Vicksburg, Miss.

- O'Dell, W. D. 1977. Detection of a Potential Health Hazard in Recreational and Other Surface Waters. Nebraska Water Resources Research Institute, Lincoln. NTIS #PB 275 769.
- O'Dell, W. D. 1979. Isolation, enumeration, and identification of amoebae from a Nebraska, USA, lake. J. Protozool. 26:265-269.
- Urlob, G. T. 1956. Viability of sewage bacteria in seawater. Sew. Ind. Wastes. 20:1147-1167.
- Orrison, L. H., W. B. Cherry and D. Milan. 1981. Isolation of <u>Legionella</u> <u>pneumophila</u> from cooling tower water by filtration. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 41:1202-1205.
- Pai, C. H., V. Mors and E. Oman. 1979. Pathogenesis of <u>Yersinia enterocolitica</u> gastroenteritis in experimental infection. Abstr. Ann. Meet. Am. Soc. Microbiol. B21.

Palmer, F. E., R. D. Methot, Jr. and J. T. Staley. 1976. Patchiness in the distribution of planktonic heterotrophic bacteria in lakes. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 31:1003-1005.

Petrilli, F. L., P. Crovari, S. DeFlora and A. Vannucci. 1974. The viriological examination of water. I. Drinking water. Bull. First Sieroter (Milanese) 53:1.

Pipes, W. O. (ed.) 1978. Water quality and health significance of bacterial indicators of pollution, workshop proceedings Drexel University. National Science Foundation, Washington, D. C.

- Powell, M. P. and P. M. Berthouex. 1967. Water quality changes due to impoundment. J. Am. Water Works Assoc. 59:829.
- Pretorius, W. A. 1962. Some observations on the role of coliphage in the number of <u>Escherichia coli</u> in oxidation ponds. J. Hyg., Camb. 60:279-281.
- Reid, L. W. 1966. Wastewater pollution and general eutrophication of a hydroelectric impoundment. J. Water Pollut. Control Fed. 38:165.
- Rendtorff, R. C. 1954. The experimental transmission of human intestinal protozoan parasites. II. <u>Giardia lamblia</u> cysts given in capsules. Am. J. Hyg. 59:209-220.
- Rendtorff, R. C. 1979. The experimental transmission of <u>Giardia lamblia</u> among volunteer subjects, p. 64-81. In W. Jakubowski and J. C. Hoff (eds.), Waterborne Transmission of Giardiasis, Proceedings. U. S. Environmental Protection Agency, Cincinnati, Ohio. EPA-600/9-79-001.
- Rendtorff, R. C. and D. J. Holt. 1954. The experimental transmission of human intestinal protozoan parasites. IV. Attempts to transmit <u>Endamoeba</u> coli and <u>Giardia</u> lamblia cysts by water. Am. J. Hyg. 60:327-338.

- Rippey, S. R. and V. J. Cabelli. 1979. Membrane filter procedure for enumeration of <u>Aeromonas</u> <u>hydrophila</u> in fresh waters. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 38:108-113.
- Rippey, S. R. and V. J. Cabelli. 1980. Occurrence of <u>Aeromonas hydrophila</u> in limnetic environments: relationship of organism to trophic state. Microb. Ecol. 6:45-54.
- Rittenberg, S. C., T. Mittwer, and O. Ivler. 1958. Coliform bacteria in sediments around three marine sewage outfalls. Limnol. Oceanog. 3:101-108.
- Roper, M. M. and K. C. Marshall. 1978. Effects of a clay mineral on microbial predation and parasites of <u>Escherichia</u> <u>coli</u>. Microbiol. Ecol. 4:279-289.
- Rudolphs, W., L. L. Folk and R. A. Ragotzkie. 1950. Literature review on the occurrence and survival of enteric, pathogenic, and related organisms in soil, water, sewage, and sludges and on vegetation. I. Bacterial and viral diseases. Sew. Ind. Wastes. 22:1261-1281.
- Sands, M., H. M. Sommers and R. Loewenstein. 1981. Is <u>Campylobacter fetus</u> a significant enteric pathogen in Chicago? Abstr. Ann Meet. Am. Soc. Microbiol. C204.
- Schaub, S. A., C. A. Sorber and G. W. Taylor. 1974. The association of enteric viruses with natural turbidity in the aquatic environment, pp. 71-83. In J. F. Malina and B. P. Sagik (eds.), Virus Survival in Water and Wastewater Systems. Center for Research in Water Resources. Univ. of Texas at Austin.
- Schieman, D. A. 1978. Isolation of <u>Yersinia enterocolitica</u> from surface and well waters in Ontario, Can. J. Microbiol. 24:1048-1052.
- Schillinger, J. E. and G. A. McFeters. 1978. Survival of <u>Escherichia</u> <u>coli</u> and <u>Yersinia</u> <u>enterocolitica</u> in stream and tap waters. Abstr. Annu. Meet. Am. Soc. Microbiol. N79.
- Seidler, R. J., M. D. Knittel and C. Brown. 1975. Potential pathogens in the environment: cultural reactions and nucleic acid studies on <u>Klebsiella pneumoniae</u> from clinical and environmental sources. Appl. <u>Microbiol.</u> 29:819-825.
- Sladek, K. J., R. V. Suslavich, B. I. Sohn and E. W. Dawson. 1975. Optimum membrane structures for growth of coliform and fecal coliform organisms. Appl. Microbiol. 30:685-691.
- Slanetz, L. W., C. H. Bartley and T. G. Metcalf. 1965. Correlation of coliform and fecal streptococcal indices with the presence of <u>Salmonella</u> and enteric viruses in sea water and shellfish. Adv. Water Pollut. Res., Pergamon Pres, London.

- Smith, E. M., C. P. Gerba and J. L. Melnick. 1978. Role of sediment in the persistence of enteroviruses in the estuarine environment. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 35:685-689.
- Smith, L. L. and R. E. Gouron. 1969. Sterol metabolism VI. Detection of 5β ol in polluted waters. Water Res. 3:141-148.
- Smith, R. J. and R. M. Twedt. 1971. Natural relationship of indi ator and pathogenic bacteria in stream waters. J. Water Pollut. Control Fed. 43:2200-2207.
- Smith, R. J., R. M. Twedt, and C. K. Flanigan. 1973. Relationships of indicator and pathogenic bacteria in stream waters. J. Water Pollut. Control Fed. 45:1736-1745.
- Spino, D. F. 1966. Elevated-temperature technique for the isolation of <u>Salmonella</u> from streams. Appl. Microbiol. 14:591-595.

Stevens, A. R., R. L. Tyndall, C. C. Coutant and E. Willaert. 1977. Isolation of the etiological agent of primary amoebic meningoencephalitis from artifically heated waters. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 34:701-705.

- Stevenson, A. H. 1953. Studies of bathing water quality and health. Am. J. Publ. Hea'th. 43:529-538.
- Straskrabova, V. 1975. Seasonal occurrence of several groups of heterotrophic bacteria in two reservoirs. Int. Rev. Gesamten Hydrobiol. 59:9-16.
- Strathman, D. K. 1979. Two-step membrane filtration versus most-probablenumber on unchlorinated sludge, soil, and natural water samples. J. Water Pollut. Control Fed. 51:405-417.
- Stuart, D. G., G. A. McFeters and J. E. Schillinger. 1977. Membrane filter technique for the quantification of stressed fecal coliforms in aquatic environment. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 34:42-46.
- Thomas, C. D. and M. A. Levin. 1978. Quantitative analysis of group D streptococci. Abstr. Ann. Meet. Am. Soc. Microbiol. Q94.

Thornton, K. W., J. F. Nix and J. D. Bragg. 1980. Coliforms and water quality: use of data in project design and operation. Water Res. Bull. 16:86-92.

- Tobin, R. S., P. Lomax and D. J. Kushner. 1981. Comparison of nine brands of membrane filter and the most-probable-number methods for total coliform enumeration in sewage-contaminated drinking water. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 40:186-191.
- Toma, S. and V. R. Deidrick. 1975. Isolation of <u>Yersinia enterocolitica</u> from swine. J. Clin. Microbiol. 2:478-481.
- Tsernoglou, D. and E. H. Anthony. 1971. Particle size, water-stable aggregates, and bacterial populations in sediments. Can. J. Microbiol. 17:217-227.

U. S. Environmental Protection Agency. 1975. National interim primary drinking water regulations. Fed. Regis. 40:59556-59588.

U. S. Public Health Service. 1965. Manual of operations: sanitation of shellfish growing areas. Shellfish Sanitation Program, U. S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, Washington, D. C. PHS Publ. No. 33.

Van Donsel, D. J. and E. E. Geldreich. 1971. Relationships of <u>Salmonellae</u> to fecal coliforms in bottom sediments. Water Res. 5:1079-1087.

Van Donsel, D. J., E. E. Geldreich and N. A. Clarke. 1967. Seasonal variations in survival of indicator bacteria in soil and their contribution to storm-water pollution. Appl. Microbiol. 15:1362-1370.

Vasconcelos, G. J. and R. G. Swartz. 1976. Survival of bacteria in seawater using a diffusion chamber apparatus in situ. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 31:913-920.

- Ward, R. C. and K. S. Nielsen. 1978. Evaluating the Sampling Frequencies of Water Quality Monitoring Networks. U. S. Environmental Protection Agency, Las Vegas, Nevada. EPA-600/7-78-169.
- Weiss, C. M. 1951. Adsorption of <u>E</u>. <u>coli</u> on river and estuarine silts. Sew. Ind. Wastes. 23:227-237.
- Weiss, C. M. and R. T. Oglesby. 1960. Limnology and water quality of raw water in impoundments. Publ. Works. 91:97.

Wellings, F. M., P. T. Amuso, S. L. Chang and A. L. Lewis. 1977. Isolation and identification of pathogenic <u>Naegleria</u> from Florida lakes. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 34:661-667.

Wellings, F. M., P. T. Amuso, A. L. Lewis, M. J. Farmelo, D. J. Moody and
 C. L. Osikowicz. 1979. Pathogenic <u>Naegleria</u>: Distribution in Nature.
 U. S. Environmental Protection Agency, Cincinnati, Ohio. EPA-600/1-79-018.

Wetzel, R. G. 1975. Limnology. W. B. Saunders Co., Philadelphia, Pa.

Wheater, D. W. F., D. D. Mara and J. Oraqui. 1979. Indicator systems to distinguish sewage from stormwater run-off and human from animal faecal material, p. 21-1 — 21-7. In A. James and L. Evison (eds.), Biological Indicators of Water Quality. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., N. Y.

Winslow, S. A. 1976. The relationship of bottom sediments to bacterial water quality in a recreational swimming area. M.S. thesis. University of Arizona, Tuscon.

In accordance with letter from DAEN-RDC, DAEN-ASI dated 22 July 1977, Subject: Facsimile Catalog Cards for Laboratory Technical Publications, a facsimile catalog card in Library of Congress MARC format is reproduced below.

Burton, G. Allen Microbiological water quality of impoundments : A literature review / by Allen Burton, Jr. (Environmental Science Program, University of Texas at Dallas). --Vicksburg, Miss. : U.S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station ; Springfield, Va. ; available from NTIS, 1982. 53 p. : ill. ; 27 cm. -- (Miscellaneous paper ; E-82-6) Cover title. "December 1982." Final report. "Prepared for Office, Chief of Engineers, U.S. Army under Purchase Order No. DACW39-82-M-2075 (EWQOS Work Unit IIF)." "Monitored by Environmental Laboratory, U.S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station." At head of title: Environmental & Water Quality Operational Studies. Bibliography: p. 39-53.

Burton, G. Allen Microbiological water quality of impoundments : ... 1982. (Card 2)
1. Bacteria. 2. Microbiology. 3. Reservoirs.
4. Water quality. I. United States. Army. Corps of Engineers. Office of the Chief of Engineers. II. University of Texas at Dallas. III. Environmental & Water Quality Operational Studies. IV. U.S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station. Environmental Laboratory. V. Title VI. Series: Miscellaneous paper (U.S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station); E-82-6. TA7.W34m no.E-82-6